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For Theodore






Introduction

Tatyana’s Russia




In this country, something happens and you never know where it will lead.

—TATYANA SHALIMOVA


A bit of this, yet also half of that.

—YEVGENY YEVTUSHENKO






TATYANA SHALIMOVA’S high heels sank into the mud as we rounded the corner to her brother’s house. To our left, four chickens feasted in a large, open garbage bin. Ahead, her brother’s wife stood alone in the kitchen, a gigantic pot of slops simmering on the stove to feed their pig, Masha. Inside the house, there was no toilet, no hot water, and no telephone. Pulling on her Ray•Bans, Tatyana shook her head as she considered the gap separating her life in Moscow from her brother Misha’s in the “workers’ settlement” of Mokshan. “I can’t stay here for more than a few days at a time,” she said. Then came a question, the question: “Why don’t the people here change their lives?” Her unspoken rebuke hung in the air: “I did.”1

It was nearly ten years to the day after the failed coup by hard-line Communists in August 1991 set in motion the collapse of the Soviet Union. Russia was now a family divided by differing post-Soviet realities, struggling to come to terms with a painful decade of dislocation. For some like Tatyana, there were new hopes and expanded horizons—“the appetite,” she explained to us, “grows while eating.” For the majority like her brother, there were the ruins of an old system and no more than rare glimpses of something new to replace it.

In the Kremlin, a onetime KGB spy who had sat out the implosion of the Soviet empire in a backwater posting in East Germany had become president of Russia. Few knew what to make of Vladimir Putin, a political cipher who came into office speaking of democracy while preparing to dismantle democratic institutions. Fewer still had a sense of where Russia was headed after its first tumultuous post-Soviet decade. The age of Boris Yeltsin, with all the attendant drunken antics and economic crises, had ended. The age of Putin, whatever it would be, had begun.

We had arrived in Russia as correspondents for the Washington Post on the eve of Putin’s election as president in 2000 and would stay on through nearly four years of change in a country the world thought it had gotten to know under Yeltsin. We found the place in the throes of a nationalist reawakening, cheered on by a proud, young leader, and yet such a weakened shadow of its former superpower self that it faced an epidemic of young conscripts running away from an army that couldn’t properly feed them. It was a time of economic boom as oil revenues floated Russia out of the bank runs and ruble collapses of Yeltsin’s presidency. And yet it was also a place ruled by ambivalence and anxiety, when fears of the future crowded out memories of the brutalities in the not-so-distant Communist past. This was a newly assertive Russia, rejecting international loans instead of defaulting on them, glorifying its lost empire rather than exulting in the downfall of dictatorship, a Russia where the clichés of the 1990s, of begging babushkas, gangster capitalism, and oligarchic excess, were no longer operative. The grinding, brutal war in the breakaway region of Chechnya—and the spill-over wave of gruesome terror attacks against subway riders and airline passengers, schoolchildren, and theatergoers—became a grim constant linking the two eras.

A friend of a friend we first met at an Italian café in the center of Moscow, Tatyana would turn out to be one of our first and most reliable guides to Putin’s Russia, helping us explore the post-Soviet fault lines that fissured the vast country. Hers was a Russia banking on the promises of an unfinished capitalist revolution; her brother remained behind in the crumbled wreckage of their childhood, trapped in isolation and the unforgiving legacy of the past. Tatyana’s was the world of Moscow’s emerging, tenuous middle class, a whirl of European vacations and after-work aerobics classes, supermarkets and traffic jams, rising expectations and perpetual insecurity. Brother Misha’s Mokshan, 440 miles to the southeast, was a place of rusting factories and Communist-era bosses, where money remained more concept than reality and the summer harvest of cabbage and potatoes supplied food for the long winter.

“All the positive changes that happened in my life are the consequences of the new system,” she said.

“Things are harder now,” he countered. “There’s not enough jobs and not enough money.”

On the overnight train from Moscow to Mokshan, a twelve-hour-and-forty-five-minute journey from one country to another, Tatyana told us her story of wrenching change in Russia’s decade of upheaval. At thirty-four, she was part of the transitional generation, the last to receive a fully Soviet education and the first to work mostly in the free market. She grew up with Leonid Brezhnev’s stagnation in the 1970s, came of age during Mikhail Gorbachev’s perestroika in the 1980s, and became an adult amid the democratic chaos and corrupted capitalism of Boris Yeltsin’s 1990s. Now she had forgotten her mandatory classes on Marxism and worked for a foundation trying to reform the Russian judiciary. Ten years earlier, she had never been outside the country. Today, she was fluent in world capitals, most recently Paris and London, a connoisseur of beaches from Spain to Egypt. Where once she lived in a crowded communal apartment with four roommates, one grimy kitchen, and no shower, now she rented a tiny studio and dreamed of owning her own home.

The gulf between her Moscow and her family’s Mokshan had always existed. But never had it been so wide—the difference between the $1,500 a month that Tatyana considered “normal” for herself and her Moscow friends and the $70 monthly salary of her brother, between the French cognac she now preferred and the home-brewed vodka he kept in his cupboard. On the short walk from Misha’s house to the polluted river where they had swum as kids, he described the berry-picking season just ended, the mushroom-hunting soon to begin, and the cow he wanted to purchase that fall. Tatyana, meanwhile, was looking back at his crooked wooden outhouse. “I am between two worlds,” she told us.

So, too, was Putin’s Russia, no longer Communist yet not quite capitalist, no longer a tyranny yet not quite free. The heady idealism of the day that Yeltsin had clambered atop a tank in 1991 and brought down the Soviet Union was long since dead and often unmourned. “Democracy” was not now—if it had ever been—a goal supported by much of the population, and the very word had been discredited, an epithet that had come to be associated with upheaval rather than opportunity. Polls consistently found that no more than a third of the population considered themselves democrats a decade into the experiment, while an equally large number believed authoritarianism was the only path for their country.2 Yeltsin had, in other words, succeeded in killing off Communism but not in creating its successor.

Instead, the Russia we found on the eve of the Putin era remained a country in between, where strong-state rhetoric played well even as the state collapsed, where corruption and the government were so intertwined as to be at times indistinguishable, and where the president from the KGB set as his main priority the establishment of what he euphemistically called the “dictatorship of the law.” Like everyone else, we were left to wonder where these slogans would in reality lead, certain only that the Putin presidency would be very different from what had preceded it.

For Tatyana and her friends, there was respite but no real refuge from the uncertainty. And this perhaps was the most useful introduction for us to Russia, a reminder that while Moscow was now a place of sushi for the few and new cars for the many, of seemingly unlimited freedoms and a decade’s worth of openness to the West, there were no guarantees. One Sunday afternoon, at the health club that was her favorite hangout, Tatyana sipped freshly squeezed pear juice at the sports bar after changing out of her neon yellow leotard and electric blue spandex shorts. She and her friends were preoccupied with the minutiae of life in the big city at the turn of the millennium, with Internet dating and vacations abroad and families in the provinces who couldn’t relate. But unlike the pre–September 11 cocoon of Americans who felt free to ignore the realities of the wider world, Russians did not have the luxury of completely tuning out.

“In this country, something happens and you never know where it will lead,” Tatyana told her friends.

Heads nodded and soon the conversation broke up. Two of the women were late for appointments to get their legs waxed.

 

FROM OUR first trip there together, the Russia that we experienced was Putin’s. During his election campaign in 2000, in a grim March that was neither winter nor spring, we had our initial encounter with what would become an ever more artfully “managed democracy”—a term that came into wide use for the first time that political season as Moscow’s intelligentsia struggled to understand the political goals of the little-known secret police chief who on New Year’s Eve, 1999, had become Boris Yeltsin’s handpicked successor.3

Trying to understand the Putin appeal, we flew to Magnitogorsk, the rusting steel town straddling Europe and Asia in the Ural Mountains whose founding had been the proudest achievement of dictator Joseph Stalin’s first five-year plan back in 1929. When we got off the plane late at night, we were met on the tarmac by a local police official who had been informed that the Washington Post was coming to town and insisted on checking our documents—an echo of a Soviet past we thought long gone. After negotiating our way through that encounter, we found a city where the plant managers themselves organized Putin’s campaign and workers shrugged at the inevitability of the anointed president’s victory. As the sky turned a hideous orange outside the mammoth steel plant’s gates in a daily light show of environmental hazard, we talked to Soviet leftovers who were so indifferent to politics they told us that it did not matter to them that Putin refused to offer a program for governing the country. If anything, they said, it was a positive. “Stalin’s words—that each person is just a small wheel in a big state machine—are still in our psyche,” mused the editor of the local newspaper, founded like the rest of the gritty town by Stalin’s political prisoners. “That is why people are content with slogans and don’t feel they need detailed programs.”4

On television, on billboards, in the newspapers, were all the apparent hallmarks of democracy—a large field of competing candidates, genuine differences over the country’s future, shamelessly pandering photo ops. But rather than being the flourishes of a vibrant new political culture, these proved to be deceptive, reflecting Russian expertise in the arts of pokazukha—displays meant only for show. In the end, what struck us about the election was not only the absence of real choice but the mystery of Putin’s appeal. After not yet a decade of democratic experimentation, how could it be that this product of the KGB was the best the country had to offer itself?

On election day, when Putin would become Russia’s second elected president in its thousand-year history in an election marred by vote fraud, media manipulation, and irregularities politely overlooked by the world’s other great powers, we spent the afternoon in Moscow asking voters about the spy who became president. Their answers surprised us then and still do.

“He knows what order is,” Putin voter Tatyana Gosudareva told us, a sentence we heard so often in the coming years it would come to seem a refrain. We found a young couple huddled together in the sculpture garden of fallen Soviet statues outside the House of Artists, paying homage to the stern visage of Feliks Dzerzhinsky, founder of the Soviet secret police. The monument had been pulled off its pedestal outside KGB headquarters in August 1991 in one of the signal moments of the revolution that spelled the end of the Soviet Union. But more and more these days, the curious who came to glance at the fallen spymaster were not democrats thrilled at his symbolic toppling but Russians like Sergei and Lena, who idolized the strong hands that ruled a state they were barely old enough to remember. Sergei, twenty-four, worked for the latest incarnation of the secret police, the Federal Security Service, the domestic successor to the KGB that was known by its Russian initials as the FSB. He and his teenage girlfriend, Lena, had voted for Putin because of his background. “Absolutely it prepared him to be president,” Sergei said before patiently explaining to us why Russians would be proud of Putin’s past. “They like it. They see [the KGB] as strong. They see it as severe, harsh.”5

It was the first of many times we were to be confronted with a version of recent Russian history so radically opposite to what we thought we understood that it might as well have been about a different country. In the revisionist variant we started to hear that day, there was nothing about the crippling legacy of totalitarianism or the follies of Communist central planning. The gulag was a minor bump in the road, an error in 1937 long since acknowledged and forgotten. History, in this view, did not really begin until 1991 with the tragic sundering of the Soviet empire. All chaos, crises, bank collapses, crazy corruption, and crony capitalism came from this disaster. And this, we eventually came to learn, was no minority view but the sentiment of a majority rarely represented in Western portraits of the new Russia.

It was also the groundwork laid for what Putin’s deputy campaign manager called Project Putin, an ambitious effort to reshape Russian politics starting with the election of an unknown secret police chief.6 The goal was consolidating power back in the Kremlin, where Putin and his advisers firmly believed it belonged by virtue of centuries of Russian history. To do so, Putin would, over the coming years, methodically go after all possible sources of alternative views, from independent media and fiefdom-seeking governors to national legislators and even the very same oligarchic tycoons who had helped orchestrate his rise to power. He could be brutal, as in waging a war in Chechnya that fueled his surprising ascension in 1999 and cost tens of thousands of lives. And he could be subtle, as when he was wooing his counterparts in the West, who embraced him as a new-generation leader only to be surprised by his old-style tendencies.

Through it all, we were on hand to watch as the project unfolded, an effort combining the tools of modern politics with timeworn tactics from the playbook of the fallen dictatorship. It was not Soviet but neo-Soviet. The Communist manifestos were gone, the borders were open, the surface attributes of free speech seemed intact. But the project was clearly aimed at resurrection of Russia as the superpower it had been in Soviet times, if through economic and political means rather than military might. “There is no ideology at all,” as one senior official told us, just a belief in the value of seizing power and holding on to it.7 There was no empty rhetoric about the proletariat this time, but there were Komsomol-style pro-Putin youth groups ordered up by the authorities and trumped-up spy cases and even the revival of the Soviet national anthem first introduced by Stalin. “USSR” T-shirts were all the rage, and old habits of subservience to the authorities, never unlearned, guided political responses to the reempowered president even as a new market world of consumerism took shape in Moscow and a handful of other big cities.

At the start of Putin’s presidency, few understood the scale and scope of the Kremlin’s Project Putin. Instead, experts debated the question “Who is Mr. Putin?” Western-oriented democrats claimed him as one of their own and took comfort from the team of Yeltsin holdovers and economic liberals Putin assembled to lead further modernization of the Russian economy. Nationalists cheered his war in Chechnya and his vow to end the “disintegration” of the state. Soviet nostalgists—some of them still Communist stalwarts, others simply those who thought back wistfully to the country’s former superpower status—welcomed his embrace of symbols like the Soviet red star he ordered back onto the army’s banners and the disgraced KGB coup plotter he invited to his Kremlin inauguration.

Putin carefully cultivated these uncertainties about his intentions. As a politician, he had the gift of seeming to be all things to all people, of uniting an otherwise fractured society with soothing words about stability and order. At least initially, that was all that most people had to judge him by. “Putin has said he wants to end the revolution,” his political consultant Gleb Pavlovsky told us early on in the presidency, “not to start a new one.”8

One afternoon, we sat with the president’s pollster, Aleksandr Oslon, in his Moscow office on the southwestern outskirts of the burgeoning city, where new American-style malls jostled with concrete apartment towers. We were trying to understand, years later, the appeal of Project Putin. “Putin was a break from the time of chaos. The word chaos was the key word in people’s understanding,” Oslon told us. Yeltsin and his young band of reformers, the new team in the Kremlin believed, had embraced a course of democratic and economic transformation that Russians never really wanted. But Putin came to office determined not to force-feed democracy to Russia; he would, in the metaphor Oslon used with us, simply let the river revert to its authoritarian course and ride along with it. “If you think about politics and culture as a huge river, and there is a person in it going against the tide, you can swim that way, but not for long,” the pollster said.9 In other words, the counterrevolution had begun.

Project Putin was not entirely a surprise, although it may have seemed that way to outsiders who hoped Russia would turn out otherwise. Back in 1989, amid the hopes and anxieties unleashed by the beginning of this latest Russian revolution, when Gorbachev’s policy of glasnost, or openness, offered the novelty of free speech to the people, the popular bard poet Yevgeny Yevtushenko had written of the dangers of incomplete reform, of freedom only partially won, and of a Soviet state only partially dismantled. In his poem “Half Measures,” written when Vladimir Putin was still a nobody spy, Yevtushenko foresaw the failure of democracy in Russia if its central precepts were never fully embraced. The poem was meant as an exhortation to Gorbachev to continue on his course of restructuring Soviet society, but when we read it, many years of partially executed reforms later, it served also as foreshadowing, a rendering of Russia as we would find it:


…[W]ith every half-effective half measure

Half the people remain half pleased.

The half sated are half hungry.

The half free are half enslaved.

We are half afraid, halfway on a rampage…

A bit of this, yet also half of that

…Can there be with honor

A half motherland and a half conscience?

Half freedom is perilous,

And saving the motherland halfway will fail.10



BY THE TIME we began to write this book, the Kremlin had already carried out much of its takeover. All three national television networks were once again controlled by the state, Russia’s richest man was in jail after challenging Putin’s rule too openly, and his oil company, the country’s largest and best run, was on its way to being renationalized. National elections criticized by international observers as free but not fair had produced a pocket parliament unswervingly loyal to the president. Putin had surrounded himself at the upper echelons of power with a cadre of like-minded KGB and military veterans—so many so that one-quarter of the political elite was now composed of such siloviki, as Russians called these “men of power,” compared with just 3 percent under Gorbachev. The military budget had tripled, and the secret services received their long-awaited first increases since the breakup of the Soviet Union. In March 2004, Putin won his second term as president after a campaign so pointless the only real suspense was whether his challengers would drop out en masse or let the farce play itself out with their names still on the ballot.

By then, the debate was no longer over who Putin was, but just how far he intended to take things.

And the answer would come not long after the president’s pomp-filled second-term inauguration at the Kremlin, when, standing underneath the golden tsarist sunburst of St. Andrew’s Hall, Putin began his next four years in office with a speech that no longer even mentioned the word democracy. Just as it had vaulted him to power, Chechnya would provide the clarifying moment. As the conflict there hit the decade mark, a new wave of Chechen-related mayhem broke out across Russia, starting with the assassination of Putin’s handpicked president for the region within days of the viceroy’s inauguration and culminating in September 2004 with the seizure of School Number 1 in the town of Beslan not far from the Chechen border.

When the grim standoff ended with the spectacle of hundreds of tiny dead, burned bodies pulled from the rubble, the world watched in horror. For Putin, it was the moment finally to reveal his hand. For three days, his government had lied about everything having to do with the siege, from the number of children trapped inside to the identity of the hostage-takers, who authorities insisted were led by Al Qaeda–affiliated Arabs rather than homegrown Chechen terrorists, a claim swiftly debunked by the evidence but never officially disavowed. Putin chose to blame unnamed nefarious forces in the West in a return to Cold War–style rhetoric that would increasingly mark his statements from that point on. Then, within days, he announced a sweeping Kremlin power grab—the cancellation of gubernatorial elections in all of Russia’s eighty-nine regions, with the governors from now on to be appointed by the president, and the end of independent representatives in parliament, with only his puppet parties picking future candidates. He justified the moves as an antiterrorist step “to prevent further crises.” When governors rushed to endorse the proposal with statements so fawning that even a tsarist courtier might have blushed, Russia was suddenly as clear as it would ever be. The counterrevolution was over, and Putin had won.

Our book, then, begins and ends with Beslan—a bloodbath of innocents that was also a horrendous unanticipated consequence of Project Putin, when state television broadcast soap operas rather than risk airing the battle, and the president deflected criticism onto Westerners and elected politicians rather than fire a single senior officer in his own corrupted, bloated security forces responsible for handling the hostage-taking.

On the pages between, we hope to provide a wide-ranging tour of Putin’s Russia as the Kremlin rose again, from vantage points as varied as the rock music nationalists at Moscow’s Nashe radio station to the high school students in Irina Suvolokina’s history class who were pretty sure that Lenin had been right after all. Organized roughly chronologically, the book moves from the unlikely rise of Putin through key moments of his tenure, from the early disastrous sinking of the submarine Kursk and his decision to take over Russia’s only independent television network, to the thoroughly “managed” elections in 2003 and 2004. Putin himself is a presence throughout, whether thwarting efforts to reform Russia’s calcified behemoth of an army or charming George W. Bush with a skillfully chosen cross around his neck.

But this is not just a book about politics. Our goal was also to provide a sense of a place where many people have long since given up on politics, where parties of any ideology are permanently discredited after seven decades of one-party rule, and where the modest but tangible economic improvements of the last few years have turned many into at least reluctant Putin converts. If the trade-off of the time has been framed as greater stability but less freedom, many Russians have proved willing to accept that deal. Our guides to this other Russia were many and varied, from a would-be nuclear physicist turned ambivalent underwear salesman in Nizhny Novgorod, who helped us understand Russia’s halfhearted embrace of capitalism, to the forgotten residents of the desolate arctic towns of Kolyma, the graveyard of the gulag where many dislocated by the recent turmoil profess longing for the Soviet rulers who sent them there.

One chapter reconstructs the war in Chechnya from the perspective of the most wrenching case to arise from it—that of Colonel Yuri Budanov, a tank commander who admitted strangling a young Chechen woman to death but whose long-running trial became a Rorschach test of the political divisions fracturing Russia in the Putin era. Boomtown Moscow itself is the protagonist of another chapter, as we look at the smart, cynical tastemakers who made the city a place of restless innovation and yet one so indifferent that the band of Chechen terrorists who seized a theater there in 2002 told their hostages they did so in order to shake the city out of its complacency about the war down south.

Along the way, we had encounters with hundreds of Russians who helped us understand Putin’s Russia: AIDS patients in Siberia whose government has devoted a total of five Health Ministry staffers to stopping an epidemic spreading more rapidly in Russia than anywhere else in the world; anguished mothers like Natasha Yaroslavtseva, whose only son, Sasha, killed himself after serving his mandatory two years in the troubled Russian military; and brash Kremlin political “technologists” like Marat Gelman, who thought nothing of creating artificial opposition political parties dreamed up in the Kremlin and turning state television into Putin’s personal election machine.

To try to understand the KGB tactics and mentality that Putin brought to the Kremlin, we spent many hours interviewing more than a dozen of his fellow former agents now in high-ranking positions in business, politics, and government, a fascinating exercise that revealed to us the enormous sense of entitlement and absolute lack of remorse on the part of Russia’s once and present ruling class. These “servants of the state,” as they called themselves, fervently believed Putin would rescue Russia from the corruption and liberal permissiveness that had taken hold in the 1990s—and saw nothing wrong with the police state methods that they, and Putin, had learned back in the time of Brezhnev. We spent time as well with the dwindling ranks of Soviet-era dissidents who opposed the Communist regime and now fought an increasingly marginalized fight against its successor. The day after parliamentary elections, in December 2003, evicted Russia’s two Western-oriented democratic parties from parliament, we spoke with one of them, a courageous human rights activist named Lev Ponomaryov. “For democrats now,” he warned us, “a period is coming very similar to Brezhnev times. They are going to be dissidents now.”11

Kremlin Rising: Vladimir Putin’s Russia and the End of Revolution is also the story of how Project Putin came to pass with the world only offering a passing nod of puzzlement or occasional mild criticism. When we first arrived in Moscow, the new president’s mantra of stability had seemed like a code word for boredom, and Western news outlets were scrambling to relocate their correspondents. Then came September 11 and the war in Afghanistan. Putin and President George W. Bush proclaimed themselves not just allies but friends. For a while, in the run-up to the U.S.-led war in Iraq, we began to hear about the Bush administration’s plans to declare that Russia had “graduated” from its transition away from Communism, to a full-fledged democracy no longer in need of assistance. It had been more than a decade, after all, and these were monies that would soon be desperately needed in Baghdad. But Putin’s Russia had hardly graduated to anything resembling the Western-style liberal democracy of the 1990s collective fantasy. If anything, Russia could serve as a textbook study in how not to reform a dictatorial political system and how not to wage a war on terror. The country’s retreat from democracy was a cautionary tale more relevant than ever at a time when Washington spoke of bringing democracy to the Middle East and wrestled with the painful questions of how to balance the freedoms of an open society with the constraints of fighting a shadowy foe. Bush began his second term vowing to promote freedom everywhere, confront “every ruler and every nation” about internal repression, and work toward the goal of “ending tyranny in our world”—and then had to begin with his friend Vladimir at an awkward summit in February 2005. Certainly, Russia was a more open society, with a considerably shrunken state role in the economy and a new web of connections to the outside world that had started to reshape a place warped by decades of isolation and willful ignorance. But the counterrevolution launched by Putin and his circle was not about completing the transition to democracy; it was about rolling it back.

For many still shaped by the past, this was not a bad idea at all, as we started to learn right from the start of our tour in Putin’s Russia, when we accompanied Tatyana Shalimova on her trip home to a very different country from the one we had expected to find.

 

TATYANA’S father was standing in the kitchen in Mokshan, bragging about his potatoes again. “I am proud that these are my own potatoes. That we have them through our own labor,” said Gennady, an engineer at the phone company who counted on his garden, not his paycheck, to supply their food for the winter.

“I don’t agree,” Tatyana interrupted. “I’ve offered to buy them three sacks of potatoes, which is enough for the whole winter.”

She turned to her father. “Why do you need to do this work? It’s not good for you at your age.”

“No, no, no,” he sputtered. “It’s our work. We are proud of it.”

For Tatyana, every visit to her parents’ apartment on Engels Street was a series of such confrontations between their Russia and hers. Although she was close to her mother, Valentina, their everyday lives had little in common, from the way they spent their time to the food they ate. (“I like something low-fat, not fried,” she told us on the train; within hours, her mother was frying fish and potatoes for us.)

The black-and-white photos from Tatyana’s high school that we pored through after lunch could have been a hundred years old: somber, unsmiling girls in frilly white aprons and uncomfortable black woolen dresses, sitting behind wooden desks. They were taken in 1984. Out of her class of thirty or so, Tatyana was the only one to have made it to Moscow. Her high school boyfriend was now buying food in the nearby city of Penza and reselling it in Mokshan. They broke up during her first year in the city, she recalled as we flipped through the photo albums her mother kept carefully in the tiny bedroom that was Tatyana’s when she was growing up. “He didn’t like all these things—foreigners, foreign languages. ‘It’s anti-Russian,’ he said.”

Such thinking still echoed in Mokshan, a town of twelve thousand that was founded in the seventeenth century but retained a Soviet look and feel. Economic problems were easier to talk about in a place where average wages were officially just $35 a month at the start of Putin’s tenure, among the lowest in the country. Tatyana’s brother Misha was an army veteran who worked as a phone company repairman—and considered himself lucky to have any work at all. Her father would soon retire from the same company with a $70-a-month pension. No one in her family, or most others there, had ever owned a car, and travel in Mokshan for them was exclusively on foot, down muddy, rutted lanes, dodging stray dogs.

The town lived with old fears as well, habits of totalitarianism that influenced Russia’s tenuous stabs at democracy. While Tatyana said she felt free to say what she thought, her parents and their friends were wary of talking to a foreigner, citing fear of retribution from the FSB.

One family friend proudly told us that she was never afraid in Soviet times. “My whole life, I always said what I thought. I never thought that something was forbidden,” she said in an indignant huff. The next day, she begged Tatyana’s mother to make sure we did not quote her by name, saying she could be fired. Another man, asked to describe life there when he pulled up in a truck on the mud-rutted track outside Tatyana’s brother’s house, replied immediately that he could not answer. “The FSB wouldn’t like that,” he explained.

Later, back in the city, Tatyana struggled to make sense of these encounters, precursors to many more we would have in the coming years. “Moscow is speaking one language about democracy,” she said, “but everybody in the provinces, they are speaking another language, an older one.”

Tatyana objected to anyone connected with the old state-security apparatus. “I don’t accept any former KGB leaders, including Putin,” she said. “People had no real choice; they were offered Putin and they accepted him.” But she knew that hers was a minority view. Both in Moscow and Mokshan, she heard regular praise of Putin as the antidote to what was missing from Russia’s post-Soviet decade. “My mom used to say, ‘You are in Moscow, you can look for the truth and find it. But here we don’t have many choices,’” Tatyana said. “There are no jobs in Mokshan, and if you lose yours, you will not find another one. The boss there rules like a king. These people say they are not Communists anymore, but they still have this mentality.”

Tatyana, for one, had left that fear behind. “I am not very much afraid. If I were to lose my job, I am sure I could be a teacher. I can be a nurse. I can wash the floor,” she reflected. “In Moscow, you have so many choices. You can control your life.”

But she was also aware that this was a luxury in Putin’s Russia, a privilege available to the small minority that truly believed themselves to be living in a new country of openness and opportunity. For the rest, there was Mokshan, and new iterations of an old past.
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Fifty-two Hours in Beslan




She looked like death walking around with a scythe.

—ALEKSANDR TSAGOLOV




EVERY FEW WEEKS, the Totiyev children would gather for another party around the plain wooden table under the single bare lightbulb hanging by a wire from the ceiling. There were eleven of them, the sons and daughters of two brothers living in adjoining houses in the southern Russia town of Beslan, two families sharing a single bustling household. With so many children, birthdays arrived all the time, but if the parents occasionally grew weary of the celebrations, the children never did. They simply organized the parties themselves and prepared all the food—sausages, cheeses, chicken, one of those mayonnaise-laden mixes of meat and unidentifiable vegetables called “salads” throughout the former Soviet Union, sweet, dense cake, and, this being North Ossetia, warm, round, cheese-filled bread that was the local specialty. With all eleven at the table, they were a community unto themselves. “They would say, ‘Why do we need anybody else?’” said Raya Tsolmayova, mother of five of the children.

The outside world intruded mainly in the form of school. As the summer of 2004 came to an end, Tsolmayova’s children returned from a vacation at the Black Sea and soaked up the last days of freedom before the fall term would begin. The youngest, a buoyant eight-year-old named Boris with a mischievous habit of uprooting the neighbor’s flowers to present his mother a fresh bouquet, seemed unenthusiastic about the start of another school year. Tsolmayova bought him some new clothes and had him put them on for his sisters to admire. The four girls played their part. “The girls were telling him, ‘Oh, how handsome you look,’” Tsolmayova recalled. “And so I asked him, ‘Do you want to go to school now?’ And he said, ‘A little.’”

Tsolmayova smiled as she told the story. She had a happy face and smiled often even in the midst of great adversity. Theirs was not a wealthy family. Her husband, Taimuraz Totiyev, was an out-of-work baker, struggling to start his own business. They had none of the luxuries of the new Russia, none of the flat-screen televisions or fancy cars or other consumer totems becoming so common in faraway Moscow. But they cherished the first day of school, an event the Soviets had long ago turned into a virtual secular holiday, a tradition that had continued even after the collapse of the system that had established it. In Beslan, as in most Russian towns, the first day of school was considered a communitywide event with little boys decked out in crisp white shirts and little girls in floppy white bows. They would carry flowers to school and, more likely than not, would be accompanied by a mother, perhaps a father, and brothers and sisters who had already graduated or were still too young to attend.

On the morning of September 1, 2004, as Beslan’s School Number 1 prepared to start another term, Tsolmayova cooked celebratory blini for breakfast. All five of her children were going, as well as three of her brother-in-law’s. Tsolmayova planned to take them, but first her husband asked her to iron a shirt for him. She thought that was a little strange—he had other shirts already ironed—but he was insistent that he wanted to wear this particular one. It meant Tsolmayova would be a little late, so she let the children go ahead of her. As devout Christians, they said a prayer together before the little ones left the house. Then the children kissed her on the cheek one by one and rushed out into the muddy street in their finest clothes to head across the railroad tracks to school. “They told me, ‘Mama, catch up with us.’ I said, ‘Wait for me. Why are you going so early?’ They said, ‘We want to go.’” Lyuba, age eleven, realized she had forgotten to kiss her mother good-bye and rushed back to peck her on the cheek. “Then she ran away.”1

The extended Totiyev family was a reflection of Beslan itself, a small town of thirty thousand that seemed even smaller, a place where dawn really was greeted by the crowing of roosters, and dusk could easily find a woman taking the family cow for a walk through downtown. School Number 1 was just short of sacred. Constructed in 1899 as the larger forces of the times were still beginning to gather against centuries of Romanov rule, the two-story redbrick schoolhouse had outlived both the tsars and the commissars who replaced them, surviving to become an expanded horseshoe-shaped landmark near the center of town that served as much as a community center as a place of learning. Five years earlier, its gymnasium had been rebuilt into a showcase, with two-story-tall windows and a basketball court that became the envy of other schools. “It was the best gym in the region,” boasted Aleksandr Tsagolov, the physical education teacher who tended it like a garden. “Everyone envied us that we had such a big gym.” Burly, balding, and powerfully built even at five foot five, Tsagolov got to the school gym at 6:30 a.m. on the first day of the new fall term, opened all the windows and doors to clear out the air, did his workout, then closed the gym doors and went home for a quick shower before returning for the official opening ceremonies. “Everything was ready,” recalled Tsagolov, who went by the nickname Alik. “Three bells rang. For us, that always means gathering. I went out to the courtyard. There were no cars yet. We started to line up.”2

The principal, Lydia Tsaliyeva, had been there since 7 a.m., personally vacuuming the floors. At the age of seventy-two, Tsaliyeva had made School Number 1 her life. An ethnic Ossetian born in the nearby Chechen capital of Grozny, her family had moved to Beslan when she was nine and enrolled her in School Number 1. For the previous fifty-two years, she had worked there, first as a geography teacher and later as an administrator. Soon after 9 a.m., Tsaliyeva shuffled the students into place for the opening ceremony, still holding a bouquet of flowers one of the children had handed her. Balloons were everywhere. A song from the 1980s played on the speakers, something about childhood and innocence. As the song ended, the balloons started popping. Or rather that’s what it sounded like.3

“We heard some sort of clapping sound,” said Tsagolov. “I thought they were balloons popping. I thought to myself, ‘What kind of balloons would be so loud?’ I didn’t understand at first what was going on. Then the shooting began. Panic. I could hear clearly there was machine gun fire. I thought there was some maniac at first. They cut us off and herded us into the courtyard.”4 Strange men were rushing toward the school wearing camouflage uniforms and black masks. A UAZ-66 military truck screeched to a stop and a gunman went to the back of the vehicle and flipped open a canvas tarp, revealing another two dozen men with Kalashnikov assault rifles. Other guerrillas were firing weapons and trying to direct children into the school gym. A man carrying flowers was shot down. Another man, shouting, “My family is in there,” ran toward the building, only to be hit by a bullet.5 Hundreds of students, parents, and teachers were herded into the gym.

“There was a lot of yelling, panic, shouting,” recalled deputy principal Olga Sherbinina. “They said, ‘Sit down! Sit down!’We all sat down. Children, parents, teachers. It was so crowded, we couldn’t stretch our legs.”6 The guerrillas dragged the body of a man they had killed into the gymnasium and across the floor, streaking blood along the way, then dropped him in the middle of the room for all to see. The message was clear.

One of those who managed to bolt when the first shots were fired was a quiet fifteen-year-old named Kazbek Dzaragasov. He had run so fast he had made it out of the eyesight of the intruders. But then he remembered his eight-year-old sister, Agunda, was still inside. He ran back to the school to find her, giving up his escape to become a hostage himself. Inside the jammed gymnasium, Raya Tsolmayova’s five children—Larisa, age fourteen; Madina, twelve; Lyuba, eleven; Albina, ten; and Boris, eight—stumbled around until they were able to find each other, then huddled on the floor together, terrified.

The guerrillas demanded silence.

“We’ve taken you hostage and our demand is that Putin withdraw the troops from Chechnya,” one of them announced. “Until the Russian army is withdrawn from Chechnya, you’re going to sit here.”

The crowd reacted with horror. Chechen fighters? Here in their little town? Taking children hostage?

As the crowd’s predicament sank in, the terrorists became increasingly angry at the noise. “If you don’t calm down,” one of them said, “we’ll shoot at the crowd, and it doesn’t matter to us if children, women, men, old women, are killed.”

In the local Ossetian language, the principal called on the children to quiet down.

“Speak Russian!” one of the terrorists hissed.

Ruslan Betrozov, the father of two students, also tried to shush people around him. A gunman grabbed Betrozov and put a pistol to his head. “If you don’t calm down,” the gunman told the children, “we’ll shoot him.”

A few seconds passed and the frightened children did not quiet down enough. The man pulled the trigger and Betrozov crumpled to the floor dead in front of his two sons.

Then the terrorists grabbed Alik Tsagolov, the gym teacher, and put a pistol to his head. “If you don’t calm down,” one of them shouted at the hostages, “we’ll shoot him next.”7

 

THE SEIZURE of a school with hundreds of children came as a shock to Russia but hardly a surprise. Over ten years and two wars, the conflict to control the rugged mountainous territory of Chechnya barely thirty miles to the east of Beslan had evolved from a nationalist struggle for independence into a blood feud in which both sides terrorized civilians with wanton cruelty. Any sense of moral boundaries had long since evaporated. Vladimir Putin renewed the war in the days after his appointment as prime minister in 1999, promising it would be over in two weeks. Yet five years later, it wore on, bitter and unrelenting, deadly and indiscriminate. Putin’s bombers flattened the Chechen capital of Grozny, dropping more ordnance than any European city had endured since World War II, indifferent to the civilians huddling in their basements, and leaving behind a hollowed-out shell of a city where not a single building was still standing fully intact. Soldiers regularly conducted zachistki (or “cleansing operations”), sweeping up virtually any Chechen man between his teens and retirement age, many of whom wound up tortured and killed or simply went missing forever. Outgunned on the traditional battlefield, the Chechen resistance had long since turned to terrorist attacks against civilian targets, the farther from Chechnya the better. Increasingly they were using female suicide bombers dressed head to toe in black chador and face-covering hijab, women known as shakhidki, a feminized Russian version of the Arab word for martyrs, but dubbed by the Moscow press “black widows.” In the two years before Beslan, Chechen terrorists had bombed trains, planes, and subways, taken over a Moscow theater, slammed a truck bomb into a hospital, and attacked a rock concert. Even before the bloody summer of 2004, more Russians had died in terrorist attacks over the previous two years than in Israel or virtually any other country in the world.

Then starting in May, the Chechens unleashed a new wave of violence. First they assassinated Putin’s puppet leader in Chechnya, Akhmad Kadyrov, with a bomb in a reviewing stand during a World War II Victory Day parade. A month later, they staged a daring nighttime raid on the neighboring republic of Ingushetia, briefly taking over the main town of Nazran, setting up their own checkpoints, and shooting any police officer who unwittingly stopped and presented his identification papers. About ninety people died that night. They launched a similar strike into Grozny itself in August as the Kremlin prepared another rigged election to ratify its choice for Kadyrov’s successor, this time killing another fifty people in a matter of hours as Russian troops remained sheltered inside their nearby base, unwilling to come out and confront the enemy. A week later two shakhidki boarded separate planes at Moscow’s refurbished Domodedovo Airport—one by paying a modest bribe of just one thousand rubles (about $34) to an airline official—and set off explosives aboard the passenger jets within minutes of each other, killing all ninety aboard in the world’s first multiple-plane terrorist attack since the September 11, 2001, assault on the United States. The night before Beslan, another shakhidka blew herself up outside a Moscow subway station, killing herself and nine other people. The government responded with its old instinct—it lied. The Federal Security Service, or FSB, discounted terrorism and suggested that the two planes fell out of the sky at the same time because of human error or mechanical malfunction. Perhaps only in Russia would it seem plausible, much less more comforting to the public, to explain away the simultaneous crashes of two airplanes by blaming aviation incompetence. The traces of hexogen explosive found at both crash sites exposed the deception.

Russians immediately understood what was happening. This was Chechnya, again, the never-ending war that kept interrupting Russia’s dreams of capitalist normality with reminders of its feudal horrors—a war propelled by some of the very people charged with ending it. The country had grown so crooked from top to bottom that many Russians assumed the attacks on the subway or the Moscow theater might actually have been orchestrated by the secret services, or at least abetted by shady cops. They had good reason for their cynicism. When a hostage in Beslan asked one of the guerrillas how they had managed to smuggle a small army equipped with an arsenal of guns and bombs to the school, he replied, “As long as your militia takes bribes, we’re going to be able to get anywhere we want.”8

Putin invariably characterized the war in Chechnya and the suicide bombings it spawned as an extension of the international war on terrorism, emphasizing the foreign financing and the Arab fighters who had come to the region to join the jihad. Indeed, Chechnya had become linked to the broader Islamic fundamentalist cause. Osama bin Laden used it as part of his rallying cry to the Muslim world against the United States. “America and its allies are massacring us in Palestine, Chechnya, Kashmir, and Iraq,” he told a Pakistani journalist two months after September 11. “The Muslims have the right to attack America in reprisal.”9 Bin Laden’s top deputy, Ayman al-Zawahiri, once traveled to Russia to explore the possibility of relocating operations to Chechnya, only to be arrested on a visa charge by Russians who had no idea who he was and released him after six months.10 Mohammed Atta and the other soon-to-be terrorists in the Hamburg, Germany, cell who participated in the September 11 hijackings initially wanted to join the jihad in Chechnya, but were told it was too hard to get in and advised to go to Afghanistan instead.11

Yet at its root, the Chechnya conflict had little to do with Al Qaeda, and there was scant evidence of large numbers of foreign guerrillas actually involved in the war. Russia was fighting its own people on its own territory in a conflict anchored in hundreds of years of history and repression. Like many Russian leaders before him, Putin thought he could simply eradicate these mountain men with the full force of a once-great empire, only to mire his nation in another endless struggle. Rather than resolve the underlying political grievances and remove the popular mandate for the rebels, he had demonized, victimized, and consequently radicalized an entire people.

Just an hour before the terrorists arrived at Beslan, Putin was issuing another muscular statement stemming from the plane crashes and subway bombing. “We shall fight them, throw them in prison, and destroy them,” he had said.12 Now that hubris was coming home again with devastating consequences on the basketball court of a little school in a little town called Beslan.

 

THE MOBILE phones started buzzing urgently all around the Russian republic of North Ossetia shortly after the terrorists arrived. Taimuraz Mansurov, the regional parliament speaker who had helped secure funds to renovate the Beslan school gym, was at a local university greeting new students when his son-in-law called. “I couldn’t believe it,” he recalled.13 Two of his own children were students at the school.

Mansurov raced to Beslan, arriving around the same time as the region’s president, Aleksandr Dzasokhov, a former Soviet official, and a delegation from the State Duma, the lower house of parliament, that happened to be in the area. They found chaos, parents running around screaming, police uncertain what to do, terrorists shooting from the school’s windows and roof at anything that moved within range of their rifles. From the beginning, it was clear that a hostage crisis of unprecedented scale was developing. Authorities at the scene were told by witnesses that some eight hundred people were inside the gym. Officials outside the school questioned a man who had escaped. “His lips were shaking,” recalled Mikhail Markelov, a Duma deputy. “He was completely white. He was so scared. We asked him how many children were in there. He said, ‘The whole city is there.’We asked specifically how many children and he said, ‘More than five hundred, plus the parents.’” Even that would prove an underestimate, but Russian officials decided to lie about how many were inside. When Markelov went on the radio shortly after hearing the escaped man’s account, he reported just one hundred people taken hostage. “I knew there were a lot more inside,” he told us, “but in the first few minutes if we stated the exact figure, there could have been a panic.”14

Since even before the Soviet era, the first habit of the government has always been to lie to its own people. But that would not work in Beslan. With at least twelve hundred children and adults crammed into the gym, virtually everyone in town had a loved one there or knew someone who did. Among those who raced to the school was Taimuraz Totiyev, Raya Tsolmayova’s husband and father of their five children inside. “When I drove out, I heard shooting. I thought it was a special day, maybe they had some fireworks. I didn’t think it could be what it was. When I got close, I could see panic. I got out of the car. ‘What’s happening?’ I asked. ‘The school’s been taken hostage.’ ‘By who?’” No one knew for sure. Totiyev approached the school courtyard. “I could see there wasn’t a single person there. They had gotten everyone into the gym. When they told me some of the kids escaped, I drove around looking for one of ours, hoping maybe one of them ran away. But none of them did.” Like the others, Totiyev found the government disinformation about the number of hostages outrageous. “Of course, everybody was angry. Who would like that? They knew perfectly well how many people were inside.”15

For a while, no contact came from the school. Then a woman, shaking and petrified, was sent out with a note. In poor Russian, it announced that the guerrillas who had seized the school were demanding negotiations with Dzasokhov, the North Ossetian president; Murat Zyazikov, an FSB general who had been installed by the Kremlin as president of next-door Ingushetia in a manipulated election two years earlier to replace a less pliant local leader; and Leonid Roshal, a famous children’s doctor who had played intermediary with Chechens in the past. The note did not identify the hostage-takers or lay out any demands, but, as Markelov recalled, it warned ominously, “If you try to shut off the electricity or the water at the school, several hostages will be shot. If one of us is shot, fifty hostages will be shot.”16 The note listed a mobile telephone number, but when authorities called, they got only a recording saying the phone was blocked.

Inside the school, the children had quieted down after the first man was shot, saving Alik Tsagolov from the same fate, then watched wide-eyed as the gunmen wired the room with more than a dozen bombs. Explosives were placed along the metal rims of the basketball hoops and a wire was strung between them, holding heavy bombs as if they were Christmas lights. The biggest bomb was connected to spring-loaded trigger devices that resembled pedals on the floor. Two terrorists kept their feet pressed on the pedals at all times; if either let up, they told the hostages, the bombs would explode.17 Two shakhidki, draped in black, wore explosives around their waists, one carrying a gun in one hand and a button to set her bombs off in the other. “She looked like death walking around with a scythe,” Tsagolov remembered. “As soon as there was noise, she put a gun to the heads of babies.”18 Their leader was hardly more humane. Tall and bearded, he inspired fear not only in the hostages but also in his troops, who called him the Colonel.

The guerrillas picked out men from the crowd, forcing them to help set up barricades around the school. As soon as they were done, the terrorists marched their brigade of fathers and older brothers upstairs to Classroom 15 on the second floor. On the wall was a portrait of Soviet poet Vladimir Mayakovsky and a wooden plaque featuring the quote that had made him obligatory reading for Soviet students: “I would study Russian if only because Lenin spoke it.”

The room quickly became an execution chamber. One after the other, the terrorists gunned down the men, as many as twenty-two by some estimates. Then they ordered a hostage named Aslan Kutsayev and another man to throw the bodies out the window. Blood smeared the wall as the men dragged their fellow hostages and shoved them out. When the gunman watching them turned away to change a magazine in his assault rifle, Kutsayev took advantage of the moment and jumped out the window himself. He broke his leg in the fall and began crawling away from the building as his captor raced to the window and started shooting. Russian troops positioned nearby saw what was happening and lobbed several smoke grenades to cover him. Kutsayev, a thirty-three-year-old hardware store manager, escaped, but left behind his wife, two young daughters, and sixty-five-year-old mother-in-law.19

By then, authorities had set up a command center at the town hall, divided into two sections, one for civilian officials like Taimuraz Mansurov, the parliament speaker, and the other for law enforcement and military officers, led by the head of the regional FSB, General Valery Andreyev. But that did not answer the question of what to do.

Back in Moscow, the Kremlin dithered, uncertain how to handle a situation involving so many children. Negotiate? Storm the building? The men who had seized the school had not come prepared for serious talks—that was clear. They had come to kill. And storming offered little hope for success. The terrorists had placed snipers on the roof and mined the building. Putin interrupted his vacation in the Black Sea resort of Sochi and returned to Moscow. “When he flew in at night, it was enough to see his face to see that this person was grieving,” Aslambek Aslakhanov, Putin’s chief Chechnya adviser, told us later. “He was terribly upset. He had very tough discussions about the breakdowns that had occurred.”20 But he had these discussions in private and remained out of public view. He sent none of his cabinet ministers or other senior officials to Beslan. A presidential aide finally called Leonid Roshal, the children’s doctor sought by the terrorists, and arranged for a government plane to send him to the scene.

Inside the headquarters in Beslan, the authorities still could not get through on the mobile phone number they had been given. Mansurov, the local parliament speaker, threw himself into the assignment of calling local utility officials to ensure that electricity and water would not be cut off to the school, in accordance with the terrorists’ note. Privately, he was anguished. “I would walk somewhere where nobody could see me and I would cry like all the other parents,” he told us. His aging mother told him not to come home without his children—dead or alive.21

Finally, four hours after the siege began, the hostage-takers called the headquarters, explaining they had written down the wrong mobile phone number on the note. They reiterated that they wanted to speak to Dzasokhov, Zyazikov, and Roshal and added a fourth name, Aslambek Aslakhanov. But the terrorists were growing angry at what they saw on television. The government was still saying there were only a few hundred hostages inside. The guerrillas assumed that meant the Russians were preparing to storm the building and lying in order to minimize the situation. They told the hostages that their leaders were sacrificing them. Then they brought Lydia Tsaliyeva, the principal, to the teachers’ lounge they were using as a base. She was shocked at the mess they had made.

“Look what you’ve done,” she scolded one of the gunmen. “You’ve ruined my school.”

“I was a bad student,” he said defiantly. “I had bad marks at school.”

“You look like it.”

They told her to talk to Dr. Roshal and handed her a phone. “Dr. Roshal,” she said, “please help save the children.” She told him there were twelve hundred hostages inside and the terrorists were furious at the government lies. Then they took the phone back.22

By nightfall, the first planes of Alpha commandos, Russia’s most elite troops, landed at the nearby airport. They unpacked their guns and body armor and began preparing for battle.

 

WHEN WE arrived in Beslan late the first day, we found practically the entire town gathered around the local Palace of Culture, a cavernous hall lit by a glittering disco ball. Thousands of people milled in front or sat inside the building, waiting for word, among them Raya Tsolmayova and Taimuraz Totiyev, anxious about their five children. Since the moment the school had been seized, they had heard sporadic but frequent gunshots and rocket-propelled grenades. The parents pacing at the palace were never sure which shot might have been aimed at their little boy or girl. The crowd was angry at the obvious deception about how many children were inside and assailed every official who chanced into their midst. Their top regional leader, Aleksandr Dzasokhov, never dared come near them.

The state’s response had been disorganized and dishonest. On state television, the Kremlin maintained tight control over what was said, refusing to allow anyone even to speculate that there were more people inside the school than the 354 that authorities had announced. Some Beslan residents grew so frustrated they attacked a state television crew; others tried to get the word out surreptitiously, holding up handwritten signs in the background of live shots informing viewers that there were more hostages than the state was admitting. Even independent journalists found themselves stymied. Anna Politkovskaya, an intrepid reporter for the newspaper Novaya Gazeta whose exposés on Russian abuses in Chechnya had earned her the lasting enmity of the Kremlin, raced to the region, only to find herself doubled over in pain after drinking tea on the plane flight down. She wound up in a hospital and never made it to Beslan, convinced that the tea was poisoned. Radio Liberty’s Andrei Babitsky, who had drawn Putin’s personal wrath for his gutsy reporting from the Chechen side years earlier, found himself arrested at a Moscow airport after several men picked a fight. The men who provoked him later whispered that they had been told to do so by airport security guards.

At the command center in Beslan, officials remained almost paralyzed with uncertainty. Only two of the four negotiators the guerrillas’ Colonel had demanded were even in town, Dzasokhov and Roshal. Aslambek Aslakhanov, the Putin Chechnya adviser, remained in Moscow, unable to speak with the president directly, and Murat Zyazikov, the president of Ingushetia, was in hiding, ducking telephone calls.

Roshal offered to go in alone with food and water. The terrorist spokesman refused. “If you come by yourself without them,” he said, “we will kill you.”

Roshal tried to appeal to the man’s sense of humanity. “These are kids.”

“I’m from the mountains,” the guerrilla answered, referring to Chechen honor.

“You’re not a highlander if you seized women and children.”23

The intelligence experts in the command center concluded that the hostage-takers had been ordered to take the school but never given instructions on what to do next and were still waiting for direction from the outside. The hostages noticed the guerrillas arguing among themselves, apparently because some were having second thoughts about taking children hostage. According to some accounts, the Colonel enforced a harsh discipline, shooting one of the dissenters to death. By the second day, the two female shakhidki had disappeared; the hostages assumed they had blown up, possibly by remote control triggered by the Colonel.

Back in Moscow, Putin broke his public silence more than twenty-four hours after the school seizure to vow that he would do all he could to free the children. “Our principal task in the current situation is of course to save the lives and health of the hostages,” he said on state television.24 By then, the Alpha commandos had begun preparing for a rescue operation, but the idea seemed impossible. Negotiations, officials in the command center decided, might be the only way. Uncertain what the terrorists wanted, officials tried to guess. An end to the war in Chechnya, they figured. But was there anything concrete that the authorities could offer them to end the siege peacefully? They decided to provide the terrorists a safe corridor to escape unharmed. They would offer them money, a plane, the release of thirty guerrillas who had been arrested after the recent raid in Ingushetia. “We were ready to propose anything,” said Lev Dzugayev, an aide to the region’s president.25 It wasn’t working. “We started to send them messages saying, ‘Leave everything like it is and go away, we’ll give you a corridor,’” said Taimuraz Mansurov, the parliament speaker. “But they didn’t want to talk about it.”26

Other officials were trying hardball. They rounded up forty relatives of Chechen rebel commanders Shamil Basayev and Aslan Maskhadov—in effect taking their own hostages. Some of them were children, including a five-month-old baby. The men were forced on their knees with sacks pulled over their heads and over the next twenty-four hours were kicked if they moved. The relatives were put on Grozny television to make sure everyone knew they were being held.27 At one point, they brought to Beslan the wife and three children of one guerrilla inside the school. “She called her husband at the school and told him she was being held by the federal troops and told him not to kill children,” said Mikhail Markelov. “He asked her to give the telephone to one of the officers, and when she did, he said, ‘Kill her and all three of my kids.’”28

At an impasse, authorities turned to Ruslan Aushev, a Soviet Afghan war hero and former president of Ingushetia who had good contacts with Chechen figures. For Putin, calling in Aushev was not easy. Aushev had been a longtime skeptic of Putin’s war in Chechnya, and the Kremlin had pressured him into resigning in Ingushetia in 2002, then rigged the election to replace him with Murat Zyazikov. But when a Putin lieutenant called to ask him to fly to Beslan, Aushev immediately said yes. By the time Aushev arrived, he was stunned to find that nearly a day and a half had gone by and no one had figured out even who should talk with the terrorists. Aushev was put on a phone with their spokesman. The spokesman told Aushev he would check with “the emir” and call back. Within fifteen minutes, the phone rang and Aushev was told he could come into the school.

The scene awaiting him inside the stifling hot school gym was increasingly desperate. The terrorists had given the hostages no food since the start and had now stopped giving them water. Many children had stripped down to their underwear and begun urinating into bottles to drink. Kazbek Dzaragasov, the boy who had escaped on the first day only to run back to be with his sister, worried that she was fading. He took his shirt off, peed on it, and gave it to her to squeeze the liquid onto herself.29 “I could feel the moisture draining out of me,” recalled Alik Tsagolov, the gym teacher. “Tension was rising. People became more and more nervous. Hope disappeared by the hour.”30

Lydia Tsaliyeva, the principal, tried to reason with their captors. “Let the kids go and the adults stay,” she pleaded with one of the leaders. “Feel mercy for the young.”

“Who felt mercy for my children?” he growled back. “My house was bombed and five of my children were killed.”31

When Aushev entered the building, the terrorists tried to put a black sack on his head, but he refused. He asked for their demands and the commander handed him a piece of notebook paper addressed, “To his Excellency, President of the Russian Federation Putin, from the servant of Allah, Shamil Basayev.” Basayev was the shaven-headed, long-bearded, one-legged master terrorist of Chechnya. To the Russians, he was everything Osama bin Laden was to the Americans, the evil force behind suicide bombings, hostage-takings, and other attacks on civilians that had left hundreds dead. Once nearly a decade before he had stormed into a hospital and taken the entire building hostage, including more than a thousand doctors, nurses, and patients, a siege that would later end up with more than a hundred deaths.

Aushev read the note. In scrawled handwriting, it listed a series of demands: Russian troops should withdraw from Chechnya, which would be granted independence. Chechen and Russian authorities would work together to restore order in the Caucasus and prevent third parties from intervening. And, oddest of all, it stipulated that the newly liberated Chechnya would remain in the “ruble zone,” meaning it would continue to use Russian currency. As soon as state television announced that Putin had signed a decree ordering a troop pullout, they would start releasing hostages. The commander added one more warning: if the Russians captured their relatives, half of the hostages would be killed.

Seeing no point in arguing about the demands, Aushev decided he had to see the hostages. He was led into the gym. “It was like a steam bath,” he said. “Children there were almost naked because it was stuffy there, there was no water, and they had no food for more than two days. We were afraid that they would start dying there, suffering heart attacks and so on.”32

At the sight of Aushev, a surge of excitement rippled through the room and some hostages clapped. “I asked them to hold on, told them that I would continue to negotiate and try to resolve this problem.”33 Then he was ushered out of the gym. The principal told him there were twelve hundred hostages, then got down on her knees. “Please, Ruslan, save our children,” she begged.34

Aushev insisted that the terrorists release the nursing infants in the gym along with their mothers, and they agreed to let him take out twenty-five women and children. Among them was Fatima Tsgayeva, who was still breast-feeding her infant, Alyona. But Fatima had two other children in the school, ten-year-old Kristina and three-year-old Makhar. Fatima tried to have Kristina carry out little Alyona but one of the terrorists refused to let the older girl go and insisted that Fatima take her own baby out. For any mother, this would be a Sophie’s choice—rescue your baby but leave two other children? Fatima handed the baby to Aushev, but stayed behind herself.35

When Aushev returned to the command center, he made clear how dire the situation was. Not only were there far more than 354 hostages, but conditions in the sweltering gym were deteriorating rapidly. They had to do something. Finally someone suggested contacting Aslan Maskhadov, the Chechen guerrilla commander seen as less radical than Basayev. For five years, the Russians had refused to talk with Maskhadov, refused to try to find any kind of peace with him and labeled him a terrorist. Now they reached out. With Putin’s permission, Aushev and Dzasokhov called Akhmed Zakayev, Maskhadov’s emissary living in asylum in London. Zakayev agreed to talk to Maskhadov but explained that he had only one-way communications with him; Maskhadov could call him but not the other way around. Zakayev told his callers that if Maskhadov came to Beslan to try to talk the hostage-takers out of the school, the Russians would have to guarantee his safety. Even though the Russians had been seeking his extradition, Zakayev then offered to come to Beslan himself without guarantees to talk to the gunmen. The callers hung up to think it over.36

 

ALIK TSAGOLOV, the gym teacher, did not sleep that night. Many adults were staring vacantly in the distance, the children were listless. No one even flinched anymore when the terrorists shot in the air. “I was completely convinced that we wouldn’t live through the night,” Tsagolov said. The hostages turned to each other increasingly fraught with fear. “They would get offended if someone wouldn’t share their urine with them,” the gym teacher remembered. Some students asked Tsagolov to urinate in a bottle for them; he could not bring himself to do it. “‘But we’re dying without water, please!’” he recalled one saying. “I wanted to do it but I just couldn’t.”37

The terrorists appeared to be more anxious as well. They came again for Lydia Tsaliyeva and ordered her to call the authorities. The principal knew Taimuraz Mansurov’s children and went to find them so she could call the local parliament chief. Moments later, the mobile phone rang in the Russian command center. “I started speaking in Ossetian,” she recalled, “just saying a word or two: ‘We are dying. Please help us.’” Then the Colonel ordered her to speak Russian. She asked the Colonel to let Mansurov’s eleven-year-old son, Zelim, speak with his father.38

“Papa,” the boy said into the phone, “they are saying that there should be no storm. They said if there is a storm, they would blow us all up.”

Mansurov was struck by the strength in his son’s voice. “You’re a man and you should be brave,” he told the boy. “You have a sister there. And we are trying to take care of you.” Mansurov added that they would try to prevent a raid. “There are others here who will make this decision. But if we hear something about a storm, the other parents and I will come over to you and let them blow us all up together.”39

Putin had finally authorized his Chechnya adviser, Aslambek Aslakhanov, to go to Beslan, and as the plane lifted off from a Moscow airport, many in the command center hoped he was bringing something concrete from the president that would change the dynamics. They got back on the phone with Zakayev, the Chechen emissary in London, and talked about him coming to negotiate; just give them two hours to get things arranged, they told him.40 In the meantime, authorities finally came to an agreement with the hostage-takers to remove the bodies of the men killed on the first day. They had been lying on the ground for forty-eight hours baking in the late-summer sun.

Four men dressed in uniforms of the Ministry of Emergency Situations pulled up in a truck outside the school at 1 p.m. They approached a window, where a hostage-taker gave them orders, then disappeared around the side of the school, found the body of a guerrilla killed in the opening moments of the siege, and carried him inside. Hefting an assault rifle, another terrorist in brown civilian pants and camouflage shirt emerged from the school to monitor them. The rescue workers leaned down to pick up the first body of a civilian.41

Suddenly a giant clap of thunder split the air. Then another, even louder, just seconds later. Then came the shooting.

 

NO ONE knew what was happening. Inside the gym, a bomb had exploded, followed by a second, more powerful blast. Scores of children and adults were killed instantly. Pieces of the roof began falling on the survivors. “I felt my whole chest burst,” said Alik Tsagolov. “The whole floor was covered by bodies.”42 Lydia Tsaliyeva was knocked unconscious, her legs shredded by shrapnel. Kazbek Dzaragasov couldn’t find his sister, the one he had returned to the school for. Three of Raya Tsolmayova’s five children were already dead; Madina, the twelve-year-old, opened her eyes after the explosions to a macabre scene—smoke, flying flesh, a woman with no legs screaming, people stepping on each other to flee. Madina started calling her sisters and brother but only found one.

“Madina, it’s me, Lyuba,” her younger sister cried out.

Lyuba looked like minced meat, all burned, her legs shot through. Madina could see her sister’s bones sticking out of the flesh. “Lyuba, is that you?”

“Yes, it’s me.”

“Let’s go.”

“No, I just want to sleep.”

Madina put her arms around Lyuba and began dragging her along the floor as she crawled toward the weight room.43

Other children jumped out the shattered windows and ran for their lives. Their captors began shooting at them, hitting some in the back. Neighbor Kazbek Torchinov watched in horror as two little boys scrambled in the direction of his house and one of them suddenly pitched forward to the ground, evidently gunned down.44 Outside the school, many local men who had been standing vigil with guns retrieved from their homes had long since penetrated the porous security cordon; now, they began firing, too. The soldiers nearby had orders not to shoot and for a few minutes they held back, unsure what was happening. The Alpha commando squad was not even in place; as the battle began, they raced over toward the school so fast that many did not take time to put on their flak vests, a mistake that would prove fatal for several. Some commandos threw their bodies over the fleeing children to protect them and were killed by gunfire from the building; others were shot in the back by local men firing at the school. The rescue workers who had come to retrieve the bodies dove for their vehicle, but three of the four were shot down and the fourth injured.

For a few minutes, both sides tried to stop the situation from spiraling out of control. One of the hostage-takers frantically called the government’s command center insisting they were not blowing up the building while the Russians insisted they had not launched a raid. But it was too late. Eventually, the Interior Ministry’s heavily armed OMON troops, the equivalent of an American SWAT team, began opening fire as well.

“We didn’t get any orders,” one of the soldiers told us later. “When they started shooting at the children…we started supporting them. We were aiming for the snipers on the roof but we didn’t aim for the windows. We didn’t fire at the building.” The presence of so many hostages made it difficult to mount an effective assault. “We had orders not to shoot at the bottom of the building,” another of the OMON soldiers said. “We were confused. We didn’t know when to shoot.” The armed civilians only made the situation worse, he added. “They were just getting in the way. There were so many of them. They were so aggressive, it was impossible to push them aside.” In effect, a third soldier added, “We had to fight on two fronts.”45

In the gym, the terrorists ordered the surviving hostages to move to the hall if they wanted to live. Those who couldn’t get up were shot.46

From a block away, we could hear such an intense cacophony of gunfire and explosions it was clear a bloodbath was under way. Even the most intense battles we had witnessed as correspondents in Iraq or Afghanistan paled by comparison. Armored personnel carriers sped along the roads toward the school, with special forces soldiers in bandannas jumping off, carrying Kalashnikov assault rifles and heavy machine guns. Dozens of ambulances followed. Helicopters hovered overhead. Within minutes, we could see local men carrying half-naked children in their arms—fathers and uncles and brothers who had raced right into the school yard, in the midst of the battle with bullets flying everywhere, to save their kids.

Suddenly, a giant cloud of smoke emerged from the school. What was left of the gym roof had collapsed. A barefoot boy wearing only pants and looking about ten years old staggered past us. He had been blown out of the window by the initial explosion. “Many, many dead,” he muttered. “Many dead children.”

Even as the gun battle raged on, a makeshift evacuation began. Not nearly enough ambulances were on hand, so every man in town, it seemed, drove his own car to the scene. They screeched up, jumped out, and threw open the back door. “Here, here!” they yelled. Other men carried out blackened and bruised bodies of children and deposited them into the closest car, whereupon the driver would burst off toward the hospital at top speed. One little girl, completely naked, looked dead. A man lay her down on the grass, sobbing as he tried to revive her. A woman covered in burns was set down on a stretcher in front of us for a moment. “Water, water,” she whispered. We found a bottle of water for her and she gulped it down. A young girl on a stretcher told a local police officer, “They’re killing us and they’re blowing everything up.” From time to time, the shooting would grow closer and the would-be rescuers, and journalists, would scatter and run a block away, only to wait for it to die down and edge back again.

Four dead bodies were laid out on the grass in front of us, covered by white sheets stained with blood. They were children, the yellowed foot of one of them sticking out from beneath the sheet. A fifth body was brought out, that of an older woman, and was rolled off a stretcher unceremoniously onto the ground next to the corpses of the children. Eventually parents started approaching, peeking under each of the sheets to see if the dead children were theirs. “Are there dead children?” called out one red-haired woman looking for her twelve-year-old nephew. “Where are the dead children?”

Inside the school, Alik Tsagolov and scores of hostages were huddled in the cafeteria. Gunfire and explosions erupted all around them. A young man in street clothes with short hair and stubble on his chin approached the gym teacher and sank down next to him. He seemed wobbly. Tsagolov realized that the man was not a hostage, but one of the terrorists. He did not give his name, but he was Nur-Pashi Kulayev, a twenty-four-year-old from a village in Chechnya who had served in the Russian army.

“If they take us alive, can you confirm that I had no weapon?” Kulayev pleaded with Tsagolov. “They made me do this. They took my whole family and promised to shoot them down.”

“How can I know that?” Tsagolov replied.

“See? I have no weapon. I didn’t kill anybody.”

Tsagolov could hardly vouch for the man’s behavior over the last three days. “I’ll say that at the moment I saw you, you had no weapon.”

Their other captors were nowhere to be seen at the moment. Tsagolov began trying to evacuate some of the children, ordering them to jump out the first-floor window and run. Several made it. “Then a little boy, seven or eight years old, was standing there ready to jump and one of the terrorists shot him and killed him,” Tsagolov said. “The bullet probably went through his heart. The blood was pulsing out.”

Tsagolov turned to Kulayev, the scared terrorist. “Tell your guys to stop shooting!” the gym teacher ordered.

Kulayev tried, but the gunman cut him off. “Shut up or we’ll shoot you, too,” he shouted.

Several loud explosions erupted and the room grew dark with clouds of smoke. Tanks were firing at the school. Tsagolov realized they could be killed by their own troops. By then, the other gunman had disappeared, so Tsagolov turned again to Kulayev.

“Get up and look out the window,” he ordered.

“They’ll kill me,” Kulayev protested.

“You’re a sinner. At least clean up some of your sins.”

Kulayev peeked out the window and announced, “They’re special forces.”

“You go out first and if they don’t kill you, the rest will follow,” Tsagolov said.

“I don’t want to leave.”

“You don’t have a choice.”

Tsagolov grabbed Kulayev and forced him to the window. Kulayev jumped, shouting, “I didn’t kill anybody!”

Within a few moments, three Russian commandos appeared in the window. One of them covered the hostages with his body and ordered them to get out of the building. Tsagolov helped the children jump, then leapt himself.47

It had taken four hours for the Alpha special forces to make their way into the building; once there, they found a deadly maze of barricades, booby traps, and other obstacles. A sniper and machine gunner awaited them on the first floor. Shooting and explosions continued well into the night. Of the thirty-two terrorists, according to official accounts, thirty were killed. One of the two survivors was being led away from the school by Russian troops when a mob of Beslan residents spotted him, shoved the soldiers out of the way, and tore the guerrilla to death on the street. The other survivor was Kulayev, who would later be put on state television to give a well-rehearsed version of how the operation had come to pass under the leadership of Shamil Basayev.48

Alik Tsagolov lived, but he had lost track of his sister-in-law and her two children. He later discovered that all three had died. So, too, did Fatima Tsgayeva, who had given her baby to negotiator Ruslan Aushev and then gone back into the school on the second day of the siege to stay with her other two children. Her body was found battered and lifeless; her daughter Kristina was burned to death. Kazbek Dzaragasov, who had escaped on the first day only to turn around for his sister, lost her in the confusion but later found her in the hospital, alive. Lydia Tsaliyeva, the principal who was knocked out by the first explosions, came to and was carried out of the building. Taimuraz Mansurov, the parliament speaker, found his two children at the hospital, injured but alive.

Madina, the twelve-year-old daughter of Raya Tsolmayova and Taimuraz Totiyev, dragged her wounded sister to the weight room and tried to care for her there. Madina grabbed a wooden board, used lipstick to write on it, “Don’t shoot, children are here,” and held it up to the window. Russian troops broke the window and climbed inside. “Don’t take me, take Lyuba,” Madina shouted. The soldiers passed Lyuba, then Madina, out the window. But Lyuba’s injuries were too severe. She died at the hospital. So did two of their cousins; a third lost his eye. Of the eight children who had left the Totiyev brothers’ combined household two days earlier, only two would make it home.49

 

VLADIMIR PUTIN remained cloistered at the Kremlin, publicly silent through the battle. As children died and the school crumbled in what was clearly the worst terrorist attack in the world since September 11, Russia’s president did nothing to reassure his nation or share in the public horror. None of the officials in the command center in Beslan publicly recalled Putin playing any role whatsoever in what happened that day. Not until the middle of the night, after it became clear the battle was finally over, did Putin emerge. He got on a presidential jet, flew to Vladikavkaz, the regional capital, and made a predawn visit to the hospital. “All of Russia grieves with you,” he said.50 He was gone again before the town even woke up and realized he had ever been there.

Putin’s public performance was typical of his reaction to major crises—long silence followed by a brief, heavily staged appearance shown over and over on television, a pattern of official deception by his government, and finally a lengthy if overdue presidential speech filled with tough talk about hunting down the perpetrators even if it required more trade-offs of Russia’s already fragile freedoms. The government had lied from the beginning about the number of hostages, angering both the terrorists and the relatives. It continued to spin out falsehoods as the siege came to a bloody end. Authorities showed footage on state television of the corpses of what they said were ten Arabs and an African among the hostage-takers to make it seem as if they were tied to Al Qaeda instead of Chechnya, even though hostages did not see any Arabs or Africans. And the state almost surely covered up the real death toll.

When the first bombs exploded, CNN and the BBC immediately went to live coverage from Beslan, but Russia’s state television networks, controlled by the Kremlin, did not cut into regular programming for an hour, leaving viewers watching a comedy film called A Lady with a Parrot on Channel One and In Search of Adventures, a Discovery Channel–type program featuring a man’s travels to exotic world locales, on the Rossiya channel. Neither network aired a news report on the battle until 2 p.m. By 2:06 p.m., Channel One had dropped the newscast in favor of episode sixty-one of Women in Love, a Brazilian soap opera. Ekho Moskvy radio, the last truly independently run broadcaster in Russia, had to resort to watching CNN to tell listeners what was happening.

Even when the state channels were reporting the battle, they presented it with a ludicrous spin. “According to the latest information, the fighting in the school is over,” the anchor on Rossiya intoned at one point while gunfire was still blazing at the scene. “There are no dead or wounded there…. We can’t give more exact figures of the injured—er, the precise figure of how many hostages were freed.” NTV, Russia’s first independent and most professional news network until it was taken over by a state-controlled company in 2001 at the direction of Putin’s Kremlin, was broadcasting an update from Beslan when the battle began, but mentioned nothing of the explosions and gunfire and eventually turned to sports. When it returned later in the afternoon, it continued to censor itself. At one point, a correspondent on the scene reported that he had heard police radios indicating many injured and dead were in the school. The anchor interrupted him. “We have to stop,” he scolded. “We cannot broadcast this information. It is unconfirmed.” By evening, Rossiya was showing a military documentary series called On My Honor, in which heroic Russian soldiers battle evil Chechen bandits. Channel One showed Bruce Willis fighting terrorists in Die Hard.51

Even the print press, which had been relatively unscathed by Putin’s media clampdown, came under pressure. Raf Shakirov, the editor of Izvestiya, one of the biggest and most reputable of Moscow’s myriad newspapers, had turned over the full front and back pages of his Saturday edition to giant photographs of parents clutching bloodied children; he was immediately fired by the paper’s oligarch owners after the Kremlin complained. Authorities tried to minimize the scale of the massacre, and distrust of the state had grown so pervasive in Beslan that many suspected the real death toll was higher than the official body count of 330, even without evidence.52 The government also gave conflicting numbers of hostage-takers and whether some got away. They initially said they took three terrorists alive, then two, then just one—Nur-Pashi Kulayev. Even as the authorities were claiming that none of the terrorists got away, we ran into a squadron of special forces sweeping through a Beslan neighborhood searching for an escaped shakhidka. They ordered our Russian assistant to take off her sweater so they could see if she had bruises, as the woman they were searching for reportedly did.

When Putin finally did speak out, he addressed none of this. In a nationally televised speech a day and a half after the end of the siege, he condemned the attack as “unprecedented in its inhumanity and cruelty,” perpetrated by “international terror directed against Russia,” and promised unspecified measures “to create a new system of coordinating the forces” that fight terrorism. “In general,” he said, “we need to admit that we did not fully understand the complexity and the dangers of the processes at work in our own country and in the world. In any case, we proved unable to react adequately. We showed ourselves to be weak. And the weak get beaten.”

For Putin, that was the cardinal sin—appearing weak. More revealing still was his diagnosis of this weakness, a national ailment that he blamed on the end of the Soviet Union. “Russia has lived through many tragic events and terrible ordeals over the course of its history. Today we live in a time that follows the collapse of a vast and great state, a state that, unfortunately, proved unable to survive in a rapidly changing world.” In the new Russia, he added, “We all hoped for change, change for the better. But many of the changes that took place in our lives found us unprepared. Why? We are living at a time of an economy in transition, of a political system that does not yet correspond to the state and level of our society’s development. We are living through a time when internal conflicts and interethnic divisions that were once firmly suppressed by the ruling ideology have now flared up. We stopped paying the required attention to defense and security issues and we allowed corruption to undermine our judicial and law enforcement system.”53 Never once did the word Chechnya pass his lips.

In all of this, the only crack in the veil of official disinformation came the next night on Rossiya television. The state channel aired gruesome footage from the siege that it had censored at the time, then acknowledged that the state had lied about the number of hostages who were being held. “At such moments,” presenter Sergei Brilyov declared on the air, “society needs the truth.” But it was only part of an effort to inoculate Putin from public outrage. The lie was undeniable by this point, so the broadcast pinned responsibility on the bureaucracy and security establishment. The network did not touch on any of the other lies, only the one that could no longer plausibly be defended. Then, the station put Kremlin political consultant Gleb Pavlovsky on the air to claim the president himself was upset at the deception. “Lies, which really acted in the terrorists’ favor, did not suit him at all,” Pavlovsky said.54 A Kremlin aide later told us privately, and bluntly, that truth was simply not the highest priority.55

Putin was busy nursing his anger and frustration in the solitude of the Kremlin. The night after the Rossiya broadcast, he invited a group of visiting Western scholars and journalists to his dacha outside Moscow, then spent three and a half hours talking with them about Beslan, Chechnya, and Russia. He rejected the idea of a parliamentary investigation as nothing more than “a political show” that would “not be very productive.” Instead he focused blame on Boris Yeltsin and on the West. The war in Chechnya was due to “weak leaders” of the 1990s and mistakes that “I would not have made,” he told the visitors, conveniently ignoring his own role in starting the second Chechen war in 1999.

His attack on the West was more hard-edged. He lashed out at those who had tried to pressure him to find a political settlement to the war, comparing it to negotiating with Al Qaeda. “Why don’t you meet Osama bin Laden, invite him to Brussels or to the White House, engage in talks, ask him what he wants and give it to him so he leaves you in peace? You find it possible to set some limits in your dealings with these bastards, so why should we talk to people who are child killers?” He quoted from what he presented as surveillance of the terrorists talking over a radio during the siege. “One asks, ‘What’s happening? I hear noise.’ And the other says, ‘It’s okay, I’m in the middle of shooting some kids. There’s nothing to do.’ They were bored, so they shot kids. What kind of freedom fighters are these?”

It was a straw man, of course. The West had long ago lost any sense of romance about the Chechen guerrillas, and no one in any position of authority called them freedom fighters. But once again, Putin turned back to the collapse of the Soviet Union as the source of his troubles. The West wanted to keep Russia down. “It’s a replay of the mentality of the Cold War,” he said. “Certain people want Russia focused on its internal problems. They pull the strings so that Russia won’t raise its head.” He gestured with his hands as if he were yanking the strings of a marionette. “I’ve seen it with my own eyes. We’re seeing partners in the antiterror coalition having a difficult dilemma. They might want to pull the strings without transgressing the point at which it goes against their own interests.”56

For more than a week, he offered little more—no plans for reform, no details about what had happened. Back in Moscow, his aides took over a demonstration in support of the people of Beslan organized by a popular radio station and turned it into a Putin pep rally on Red Square, complete with premade signs: “Putin We Are with You.” And then he unveiled his plan for fighting terrorism in Russia: a further rollback of democracy. He announced that he would eliminate the direct election of governors and appoint them himself. And he would also get rid of the election of individual members of the State Duma and have all seats filled by party leaders based on voting proportions from a party-list ballot. He took a planned power-grab he had been quietly preparing for months and presented it as the response to Beslan. It would promote “unity of the country” and create a “single chain of command,” he said, but did not explain how eliminating elections in the future would prevent terrorism today.57

A prominent democratic politician told us it amounted to “the beginning of a constitutional coup d’état” and a “step toward dictatorship.”58 And the West reacted with shock, seeing it as a regression toward the days of Soviet tyranny.

But the only people who were surprised were those who had not been paying attention to the previous five years in Putin’s Russia.
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Project Putin




Nobody knew he would be president. But all the boys and girls knew that Volodya Putin was a genuine friend and someone you can rely on. Then he became a grown-up, studied a lot, and worked. He helped good people and very much disliked bad people. He often traveled and was away from home for a long time—that was the kind of work he had. His friends, his wife and daughters, missed him. Vladimir always came back because he loved his home, his family, and his friends very much. And he is still not afraid of anything. He flies in fighter planes, skis down mountains, and goes where there is fighting to stop wars. And all the other presidents of other countries meet him and respect him very much. And they show this on television and write about it in the newspapers. Then he had so many friends—the entire country of Russia—and they elected him president. Now everyone says: “Russia, Putin, Unity!”1

—ST. PETERSBURG SCHOOL TEXTBOOK




VLADIMIR PUTIN WAS accustomed to cover stories. In sixteen years as a KGB officer, he had masqueraded as a translator, a diplomat, and a university administrator. He told his future wife when he met her that he was a police officer. And so when it came to assuming a new role in that troubled summer of 1999, Putin was ready.

No one knew much about the man anointed as the next president of Russia, and that was the way his Kremlin designers wanted it. Onto the empty tableau was painted the idealized image of a leader for the new Russia, a sober modernizer who would rescue a hobbled nation and restore its historic greatness. By the time schoolchildren in his native St. Petersburg showed up for classes a year later, Putin had vaulted from nobody to virtual tsar, the subject of a hagiographic portrait included in a new school textbook paid for by a Kremlin-manufactured political party called Unity that had not even existed a year earlier. The real Putin, of course, bore only scant resemblance to the cover story. Far from stopping wars, as the children were instructed, Putin’s first act in office was to start one.

But if it was a cover story, it was one that Russia was eager to embrace. After nearly a decade of post-Soviet dislocation, Russians desperately awaited a new leader who would put the 1990s behind them. They had watched as the favored few ripped off state assets in rigged auctions, while the working masses lost their life savings in an economic crash. They had seen the pseudodemocracy introduced after the collapse of the Soviet Union corrupted by those with power, while political differences were resolved with tank fire in the streets of Moscow. They had suffered through the embarrassments of an ailing, intoxicated president who disappeared for weeks at a stretch, while his government failed to pay wages and frittered away billions of dollars of international aid. Rather than as the chosen successor to Boris Yeltsin, they came to see Vladimir Putin as the antidote to Boris Yeltsin. Just as the coterie of tycoons and advisers surrounding Yeltsin wanted them to.

The emergence of the new tsar spawned a cult of personality. Soon after his surprise selection as prime minister and Yeltsin’s heir apparent, the myth of Vladimir Putin was being spun across the nation. His photograph was dutifully mounted in government offices. A memorial was erected in the Pskov region to mark Putin’s path during a recent tour, dubbed “A Walk Along the Places Visited by President Vladimir Putin in Izborsk,” complete with plaques at a waterfall he stopped to admire and a square where he tasted a freshly salted cucumber. It was to be only the beginning of the slavish testimonials. Eventually there would be Putin roads and schools, a Putin chocolate sculpture, Putin T-shirts, Putin calendars, Putin Easter eggs, Putin toothpicks, even a new variety of tomato named after Putin. A pop song called “I Want a Man like Putin,” devised by an enterprising state public relations official named Nikolai Gastello, would soar to the top of the Russian charts, featuring the lyrical lament of a young woman swooning over the decidedly unmagnetic president:


And now I want a man like Putin,

A man like Putin, full of energy.

A man like Putin, who doesn’t drink.

A man like Putin, who won’t hurt me.

A man like Putin, who won’t leave me.2



It did not take much for Putin to genuinely impress a country fed up with Yeltsin. Sobriety alone became a major element of Putin’s appeal, in contrast to his frequently drunken predecessor; one poll found that 40 percent of Russians said the quality they admired most in the new president was that he was sober.3 Where past Russian leaders were sometimes bombastic, buffoonish, or fossilized, Putin seemed young and vigorous, cool and detached.

He was hardly a dominating figure in any room, a relatively short man at five foot nine, rail thin with a retreating hairline, hard eyes, and a strained, joyless smile. In keeping with his KGB training, he had a skill for listening and taking on the persona desired by his interlocutors. But Putin was not a born president. He commanded no mass following, articulated no grand vision for his country, had never been elected to public office. At the time of his elevation to prime minister, polls recorded his popularity rating at just 2 percent. He was the creation of one of the most extraordinary political projects in history; Project Putin, as some of those in the Kremlin came to call the effort they were enlisted to run. The oligarchs and operatives around Yeltsin virtually invented Putin, using their command over state television to concoct his image and tear down rivals. They viewed him as a loyalist they could control, only to discover how wrong they were. The project had a life of its own.

 

VLADIMIR VLADIMIROVICH Putin was born in the northern city of Leningrad on October 7, 1952, the year before Stalin’s death, to a family—and a city—marked by the long shadow of the Nazi siege and the equally formidable legacy of a state shaped by the tyrannical whims of one man. Putin’s grandfather, Spiridon, had been a cook for Lenin’s family after the Bolshevik revolution and was later transferred to one of Stalin’s dachas, where he worked for many years. The nature of the relationship between Spiridon Putin and Stalin remains unknown. “Few people who spent much time around Stalin came through unscathed,” Putin once acknowledged, “but my grandfather was one of them.”4 Exactly why, he said he did not know, but it would speak to the survival skills that the grandson would inherit and demonstrate throughout his unlikely political rise.

The proximity to power did not protect the family during World War II, a cataclysmic event in Leningrad, besieged by the Germans for an epic nine hundred days in a blockade that left hundreds of thousands dead. Putin’s father, Vladimir Spiridonovich, served at the front, assigned to a demolition battalion of the NKVD, the forerunner of the KGB. Once deposited into German-held territory in Estonia to blow up a munitions dump, Vladimir Spiridonovich’s unit became trapped by the Nazis and he barely managed to escape by hiding underwater in a swamp breathing through a hollow reed. Later, he was nearly killed by a German grenade during a battle at Nevsky Pyatachok, where eight hundred Russian soldiers were dying every day; his legs were shredded by shrapnel. Putin’s mother, Maria, trapped inside the city, was so stricken by hunger that she fell into a comatose state and was taken for dead. The senior Vladimir’s injuries would ultimately save his wife, since he received food rations from the military hospital and passed them on to Maria. But it was not enough to save their sons; one died shortly after birth, the other died of diphtheria.5

By the time their third and final son came along seven years after the war, plans for reconstruction of the city remained unfulfilled. The Germans had wiped out almost everything—including 526 schools, 101 museums, 840 factories, 71 bridges, and the homes of 716,000 Leningraders—and the Soviets were still rebuilding throughout Putin’s youth.6 His was not the Leningrad of gilt palaces, the Hermitage museum, and proud poets, but a working-class city of deprivation. Vladimir Spiridonovich had gotten a job as a toolmaker in a train car factory despite the lifelong limp from battle wounds in one of his legs and eventually became secretary of the factory’s Communist Party cell. Maria cleaned buildings as a janitor, made night deliveries for a bakery, and washed test tubes in a laboratory. She was forty-one years old when she had Vladimir Vladimirovich—nicknamed alternately Vovka or Volodya—as a late-life replacement for the sons they had lost. The family shared a fifth-floor communal apartment provided by the factory, occupying a single room themselves and sharing the kitchen with a family of three and a middle-aged couple. The apartment had neither shower nor hot water; the toilet was jammed against the landing and the staircases were pocked with gaps. Vovka and his parents went to public bathhouses to wash themselves. At home, they dodged the “hordes of rats in the front entryway,” as Putin vividly recalled. Once, he cornered a particularly large rodent, which then turned fiercely on the boy and chased him down the hall.7

Putin’s father was a hard man, silent and severe, not given to expressing affection for his son. “Vladimir Spiridonovich was tough,” recalled Vera Gurevich, the boy’s favorite schoolteacher. “He used to say that it was the only way to bring up a boy. Just watching them, it was hard to say whether they loved each other or not, whether they understood each other or not…. He was a very reserved person, not demonstrative at all, keeping everything inside. Volodya took after his father in this.”8 Sergei Roldugin, a longtime friend and godfather of one of Putin’s daughters, recalled that Putin and his father argued a lot. “He was a man of staraya zakalka,” Roldugin said, a phrase that Russians translate as “a man of the old stamp,” a harsh, old-fashioned figure. “Vladimir Spiridonovich was of a tough breed. He always worked at a plant. He could be a prototype for old Soviet movies, an example for others. For people like him, things were either black or white. He thought that a man must make a man’s decisions.”9

By most accounts, including his own, young Vladimir Putin was a foulmouthed juvenile delinquent. He hung out with the local troublemakers, got into fights, barely bothered with his schoolwork. The Pioneers, the main Soviet youth group, in which membership was obligatory for all but the worst students, would not accept him at first. Once he and his friends got on a train and left the city in the middle of winter without telling his parents; his father beat him with a belt when he got home. Gurevich met him when he was eleven. Everyone told her he was a “hooligan,” she recalled. “He had to test everything on his own skin, as we say in Russia, both good and bad things. I saw who he was hanging around with—kids from the neighborhood who were much older than he was. They were smoking, spitting. They had contests like who would spit the farthest or who could make up a more ingenious dirty word. And Vladimir was among them.” He took offense easily and fought back eagerly. “He would never be anybody’s serf. His way would be to snarl back, even at an older boy, and get a slap. But he would go after his offender, grab hold of him, and fight…. He always fought back—kicking, biting, anything.”10 Putin also used the word hooligan to describe himself as a child. “I really was a bad boy,” he recalled.11

Something changed in the sixth grade. He had gotten just threes on a five-point grading scale the year before, and Gurevich lectured him about growing up. “I feel ashamed for you,” she recalled telling him. “Are you going to remain a mediocrity your whole life?”12 Gurevich set up a German class and pushed Vovka to enroll; he found he had a facility for the language. He took up sports—first boxing, then, after his nose was broken, sambo, a form of judo, and then judo itself. Putin, small and wiry, proved a natural. He later credited it with changing his life. “It was sports that dragged me off the streets.”13

But it was books and movies that propelled him to the KGB. He was captivated by Soviet spy stories, especially the classic The Sword and the Shield, a nearly six-hour, black-and-white serial that came out in 1968, depicting a heroic Soviet agent working undercover in Nazi Germany. The quiet hero, Yogan Vais, won the trust of his superiors while he secretly betrayed them. And so the son of an NKVD veteran and grandson of Stalin’s cook resolved to join the secret police. In ninth grade, according to the public version he gave later, the spindly teenager showed up at the local KGB directorate and inquired how he could sign up. An indulgent officer explained that he would first have to serve in the army or receive higher education such as law school. And, he added, the KGB did not take volunteers; if the KGB wanted him, it would come and find him.

 

VLADIMIR PUTIN took the advice to heart, steering his way to Leningrad State University law school in hopes of attracting the KGB’s attention. He succeeded. Recruited in his final year, he idealized the spy service as the embodiment of the Soviet state rather than an instrument of repression. He disregarded the secret police’s role in Stalin’s Great Terror, its function as the conveyor belt for millions of innocent Russians condemned to the gulag. “I didn’t think about the purges,” he said later. “My notion of the KGB came from romantic spy stories. I was a pure and utterly successful product of Soviet patriotic education.” Indeed, he soon became a weapon against those who dared stand against the Soviet state. He recalled almost with perverse pride how the KGB broke up demonstrations by dissidents. “They would think up some act of protest and then invite diplomats and reporters in order to attract the attention of the international community. What could we do? We couldn’t disperse them because we had no orders to do so. So we would organize our own laying of the wreaths at exactly the same place where the reporters were supposed to gather. We would call in the regional party committee and the trade unions, and the police would rope everything off. Then we’d show up with a brass band. We would lay down our wreaths. The journalists and the diplomats would stand and watch for a while, yawn a couple of times, and go home.”14

Putin’s path through the KGB started in 1975 but remains largely shrouded in secrecy. What is known suggests a rather modest career at best. He studied at KGB schools in Leningrad and Moscow. His instructor at the Red Banner Institute was distinctly unimpressed. “I wrote about several negative characteristics in his evaluation,” the instructor recalled. “It seemed to me that he was somewhat withdrawn and uncommunicative.”15 The official version holds that Putin served most of his time in Service Number 1 in Leningrad, a second-tier office responsible for monitoring foreigners in the city, but others suspect he might have been assigned, like his close friend Viktor Cherkesov, to the notorious Fifth Directorate, established to persecute dissidents. “The details of his biography are just not known,” said historian Nikita Petrov, an expert on the Soviet special services. “We don’t know anything about the work he did in Leningrad.”16

The high-water mark of his career evidently was an assignment as a case officer in the Soviet client state of East Germany, although even then it’s not clear whether Putin was promoted to the prestigious foreign intelligence service or merely seconded there on temporary assignment. Of 450 KGB spies in East Germany in those days, 400 of them were based in East Berlin. Not Putin. Arriving in the second-tier post of Dresden in August 1985, he reported for duty to a gray, two-story villa at Number Four Angelikstrasse on a hill overlooking the Elbe River and across the street from the district office of the Stasi, the East German intelligence agency. Putin’s official cover was deputy director of the House of German-Soviet Friendship, but his assignment was to recruit potential agents. He was, according to former KGB general Oleg Kalugin, “a nobody.”17

One of the only testimonials from someone with firsthand knowledge came from Vladimir Usoltsev, who worked alongside Putin at the KGB office in Dresden. As Usoltsev remembered it, Putin was a competent but unspectacular officer who ingratiated himself with his superiors and gave the impression of “a true Communist.” At times, Usoltsev recalled Putin expressing outrage at examples of lawlessness he saw in the deteriorating Soviet system or concluding that the war in Afghanistan was “utterly senseless and criminal.” But Putin was hardly a reformer, even if he occasionally showed sympathy for the budding capitalists back home arrested for currency trading. “No matter how sorry Volodya felt for those valutchiki and other victims of the Soviet justice system, he wanted to live for his own pleasure, without stuffing his head with unnecessary worries,” Usoltsev said. “He liked to see the world, to have fun, to have a glass of beer. All his dissidentstvo was reduced to one phrase: ‘When socialism was not developed well enough, one could buy sausage in the shops.’”18

Putin had almost married a girlfriend in college, then left her at the altar. In Leningrad, he had met a young flight attendant named Lyudmila, who initially considered him plain and dull but married him anyway. They had a daughter in Leningrad and then a second in Dresden. Life in East Germany with his growing family was easy and the stocks of food in the stores more plentiful than back home. Putin regularly ordered kegs of beer and put on twenty-five pounds. “He didn’t look like a man who had highly ambitious plans for the future,” Usoltsev said. “He was just an ordinary toiler and conformist who put up with the system.”19

The system, though, began disappearing while Putin was in Germany. In 1989, as the Berlin Wall fell and the Soviet Union lost its grip on its Eastern European satellites, the people of Dresden were in the streets as well, and Putin began burning documents in his office, shoving so many papers into the furnace that it burst. The crowd stormed the Stasi headquarters, then turned to the KGB office not far away. Putin took an automatic pistol from one of the security guards and went outside to face the mob. Pointedly cocking the gun, he warned that he would open fire on anyone who tried to scale the fence. The crowd demanded to know who he was. A translator, he told them.

Back inside, Putin tried to obtain instructions on what to do. “We cannot do anything without orders from Moscow,” he was told. “And Moscow is silent.”20

Moscow is silent. That phrase would stick with Putin for years to come. It was a betrayal of Russia’s agents in the field. It was the collapse of state power, the end of empire, and he deeply resented it.

Putin was given one last mission in Dresden: to recruit a spy ring to continue reporting back to Moscow even in the newly unifying Germany. Putin chose veteran Stasi operatives but proved a poor judge of character. One member of the ring went to German intelligence eleven months after Putin left for Russia and confessed all. The Germans eventually rounded up the rest of Putin’s fifteen agents.21 Putin was recalled to Leningrad in January 1990, bringing with him a twenty-year-old washing machine given to him by his German neighbors and a sinking realization that his career with the KGB, and maybe the KGB itself, was almost over.

 

THE COUNTRY that Vladimir Putin returned to was hardly the same one he had left five years earlier. The perestroika reforms of Mikhail Gorbachev had flowered into a movement that was transforming the Soviet Union. The KGB faced the prospect of losing its grip over society; the dissidents it was set up to persecute now had their own seats in parliament. The sword and the shield no longer ruled unchallenged.

Putin found himself at a personal turning point as well. Embittered by Moscow’s silence as East Germany fell, Putin later claimed he had begun entertaining second thoughts about his mission in life. At the very least, he had come to understand he had no real future in the organization. He had risen to lieutenant colonel in the KGB and would never make general, so he began thinking about other job opportunities. For a while, he contemplated becoming a taxi driver. Instead, he returned to his alma mater, Leningrad State University, and obtained a job as an assistant to the rector. Putin was still in the service of the KGB, operating undercover, assigned to keep an eye on the university students and professors. Through a friend, he got in touch with his old law professor Anatoly Sobchak, a tall, charismatic speaker who at the time was head of Leningrad’s city council and one of the country’s most prominent liberal reformers.

Whether the KGB ordered him to infiltrate Sobchak’s inner circle remains unknown. But when Sobchak asked him to come to work as an assistant, Putin disclosed his KGB affiliation. “Screw it,” Sobchak said, and hired him anyway.22 “I was struck by the fact that I didn’t even ask him about that but he himself brought it up, saying, ‘It might tarnish your reputation as a democrat,’” Sobchak told his wife, Lyudmila Narusova, that night.23 Putin then went to his KGB superiors, according to his account, and offered to resign in order to take the job. The KGB officials saw no reason for him to quit and let him remain in “active reserves.” Putin went to work making himself essential to Sobchak, who was on his way to becoming the first elected mayor of Leningrad. The move earned further disapproval from Putin’s stern father. “He didn’t quite like the new democratic changes,” recalled Putin’s friend Sergei Roldugin.24

Putin’s past, though, would not let him go so easily. Putin’s secret service colleagues approached him and asked him to forge Sobchak’s name to some documents; he said he refused. Word of his secret affiliation filtered through to local politicians who opposed Sobchak and tried to use it against the mayor. Putin claims this was when he finally decided to end his KGB service. He wrote a resignation letter, then contacted Leningrad filmmaker Igor Shadkhan and asked him to make a television documentary in which Putin would disclose publicly for the first time his secret service affiliation. That way, no one could use it against him, Putin explained. “I must admit it alarmed me,” Shadkhan told us much later, “because my attitude to intelligence, which was part of the KGB, was not a simple one, and I had just come from shooting a film about the gulag.” But Shadkhan was intrigued and taped the interview. Even as he outed himself, Putin offered no apologies for his past. “He never had any regrets about working in the KGB,” Shadkhan said. Later, Shadkhan invited Putin to his home and introduced him to a friend, who asked what the former spy thought of a memoir by a Soviet intelligence officer who had defected to the West. “Without thinking, Putin answered my friend, ‘I don’t read books written by traitors of the motherland.’”25

In fact, Putin was still officially a KGB agent. For reasons that have never been explained, Putin’s resignation letter was not accepted, and he remained a secret service officer until August 1991, when KGB director Vladimir Kryuchkov helped orchestrate a hard-line coup against Gorbachev. Sobchak rallied behind Boris Yeltsin and flew home to Leningrad to organize resistance to the Communists. Putin decided to throw in his lot with Sobchak. He wrote another resignation letter to the KGB, raced to the airport with armed security guards to meet Sobchak’s plane, and sped the mayor back into the city. With Putin’s aid, Sobchak marshaled tens of thousands of supporters into the streets of Leningrad.

Did Putin side with the democrats out of genuine conviction or because he sensed that they were likely to win? Was it the act of a man throwing off a lifetime of Soviet training or that of the ultimate survivor? Putin has spoken of his decision with ambivalence. “It tore my life apart,” he once said of the coup. “Up until that time, I didn’t really understand the transformation that was going on in Russia. When I had come home from the GDR [the German Democratic Republic, as East Germany was known], it was clear to me that something was happening. But during the days of the coup, all the ideals, all the goals that I had had when I went to work for the KGB, collapsed.”26

Putin spent the next five years at Sobchak’s side, moving up to deputy mayor of the city that was renamed St. Petersburg a month after the coup. “He was Sobchak’s right hand,” said Valery Musin, a former law professor who later worked for Putin. “Mr. Sobchak didn’t take any serious decisions without Mr. Putin’s input.”27 It was a corrupt municipal government, one that failed to realize Sobchak’s vision of a revitalized city of canals and showcase for the new Russia. Putin himself got caught up in a scandal over food contracts. His office signed deals giving favored companies licenses to export $92 million worth of oil products, timber, metal, and other products in exchange for an equal amount of imported food; Putin personally signed one contract for petroleum products worth $32 million. But the food never materialized. A city council committee led by local lawmaker Marina Salye recommended Putin’s dismissal for “incompetence bordering on lack of conscientiousness” and “unprecedented negligence and irresponsibility in providing the investigating commission with documents.”28

Putin kept his job. All manner of scams and schemes, kickbacks and payoffs, had become the norm in many parts of Russia as the state economy suddenly morphed into a free-for-all variant on free markets. The failures of the Sobchak-Putin government were evident enough to the electorate, which turned the mayor out of office in 1996 in favor of Vladimir Yakovlev, a former Sobchak deputy who had turned on his ex-boss. Yakovlev invited Putin to stay on. But Putin, who had called Yakovlev a “Judas” during the campaign, refused. Loyalty mattered to Putin. “It’s better to be hanged for loyalty,” he said, explaining his decision, “than for betrayal.”29

 

PUTIN’S POLITICAL savior was a boisterous operator named Pavel Borodin, Russia’s answer to a Chicago patronage chief. Borodin was head of the Kremlin’s property department, a seemingly obscure fiefdom he had turned into a mini-empire. Not only was he in charge of the Kremlin facilities, a historic complex of tsarist churches and palaces surrounded by that famous brick wall adjacent to Red Square, he also controlled state property throughout Russia and in eighty-five other countries. The real estate that fell under his purview was worth tens of billions of dollars, if not more, and he commanded a workforce of 150,000 employees. Under Yeltsin, Borodin became a key dispenser of political favors for the Family, as the crowd around the president had come to be known. He masterminded a renovation of the Kremlin palaces that would prove stunning not only for its gilded excess but also for its spectacular corruption. In the end, he spent $300 million on the restoration, reconstructing seven-thousand-pound chandeliers in one hall, laying thirty-two different types of wood for the floor in another, and lacing the entire complex with gold. “Versailles isn’t as nice,” he boasted as he took us on a private tour one day.30

When Sobchak lost reelection, Borodin took it upon himself to arrange for Putin to be hired as Kremlin deputy chief of staff. According to Borodin, the two had first become acquainted when his daughter got sick while at school in St. Petersburg, and he had found Putin when calling the mayor’s office from Moscow looking for someone to help. Putin obliged and Borodin never forgot the favor. But the return favor fell through after Anatoly Chubais took charge as Yeltsin’s new chief of staff. Chubais, a tall, red-haired reformer who had orchestrated the largest sell-off of state assets in world history, eliminated the position of deputy chief of staff that Borodin wanted to offer Putin. So Borodin hired Putin into his own office to help untangle the messy legal issues surrounding former Soviet property around the world. It was yet another backwater, the Dresden of Russian politics, but the unemployed Putin had little choice. Much later, many Russians would wonder whether Borodin was acting at the behest of others seeking to recruit Putin, but he swore not. “Nobody ever asked me for Putin,” he told us.31

Putin did not remain exiled in Borodin’s property shop for long. After barely half a year, Chubais was replaced by Valentin Yumashev and Putin finally got the deputy chief of staff job. From there, Putin’s career took off. Yeltsin claimed to have been struck by Putin’s cool, reserved demeanor, although others remembered Putin as a silent presence at Kremlin meetings in that era. “He was always quiet, just sitting in a corner,” Kremlin pollster Aleksandr Oslon recalled.32 “Unlike other deputies, who were always trying to lay out their visions of Russia and the world, Putin did not try to strike up conversations with me,” Yeltsin recalled in his memoirs. “Rather, it seemed that Putin tried to remove any sort of personal element from our contact…. At first Putin’s coolness even made me cautious, but then I understood that it was ingrained in his nature.”33

Putin took advantage of his new position to help his old patron. Back in St. Petersburg, Anatoly Sobchak had come under investigation by federal prosecutors for corruption. He fell ill under questioning in October 1997 and was rushed to a hospital with an apparent heart attack. Three weeks later, Sobchak was secreted out of Russia on a chartered plane bound for Paris, a move many believed was orchestrated by Putin to shield Sobchak from prosecution. Sobchak’s wife, Lyudmila Narusova, confirmed to us that Putin was involved in the escape.34

After less than a year in the Kremlin, Putin had so impressed the Yeltsin crowd that in July 1998 they promoted him once again, this time to a position he could never have imagined as a midlevel KGB functionary in East Germany less than a decade earlier—director of the KGB’s domestic successor, the FSB. Suddenly the lieutenant colonel was in charge of the main secret police apparatus of the Russian state.

Putin, the onetime nobody, quickly settled into the new role of a somebody in a city where the luxuries of power were increasingly available. One day in December 1998, he invited an attractive young reporter from the Kremlin press pool to lunch at Izumi, one of the first sushi restaurants to appear in landlocked Moscow. Yelena Tregubova showed up to find Putin alone in the dining room, the rest of the restaurant cleared out for the new chief of the secret police. When she sought to talk business, he cut her off and urged her to drink some saki.

“Lenochka,” Putin said, using her nickname, “why do you keep talking about politics and only politics? Wouldn’t you rather have a drink?”

Tregubova was not sure whether Putin was trying to recruit her or seduce her. But she got a glimpse of an apparatchik who proved adept at working the system—and working people. “He is of a quite average Soviet education, of an average intellect,” she would later write. “But he is very, very adaptable. And sometimes with a kind of street kid’s…charm.” She ultimately concluded that Putin was “simply a brilliant ‘reflector,’ that, like a mirror, he copied the person he was with, to compel them to believe that he was just like them, ‘one of theirs.’…For a very short moment, Putin manages with frightening accuracy to copy the expression, the turn of the neck, the thrust of the chin, and even the facial features of his counterpart, and is literally mimicking him. Moreover, he is doing this so cleverly that his counterpart apparently doesn’t know it, but just feels wonderful.” At the end of lunch, neither Putin nor Tregubova paid the breathtaking tab, leaving it to the FSB.35

The other main attribute Putin demonstrated during this rapid rise in Moscow was loyalty to the president who had appointed him. When the country’s prosecutor general, Yuri Skuratov, began nosing around in the Family’s dirty laundry—including Borodin’s pricy renovation of the Kremlin, an investigation that bolstered the governors in the upper house of parliament who were trying to impeach Yeltsin—the Yeltsin circle began looking for ways to shut him down. One night in March 1999, state television aired a grainy video in which a naked man who looked like Skuratov cavorted in bed with two naked women described as prostitutes. The video, which had all the hallmarks of kompromat, or compromising material, from the FSB, caused a sensation in Moscow. Skuratov cried foul, but Putin publicly vouched for the video, deeming it “authentic,” a move that undercut the prosecutor and fatally wounded him politically. Putin met with Skuratov along with Yeltsin to pressure the defiant prosecutor to step down. Just as he had protected Anatoly Sobchak from prosecutors, Putin had once again accomplished his mission of protecting a benefactor.

Probably no other single moment was as important in Putin’s rise. Within weeks, Yeltsin rewarded him by adding the post of Kremlin Security Council chief to his FSB title, despite Putin’s inexperience in foreign affairs, and the coterie in the Kremlin began whispering that perhaps Putin would be a successor they could trust. Yeltsin, plagued by health problems and increasingly willing to use the levers of power to save himself from his numerous enemies, was preoccupied at the moment with the apparent threat from his own prime minister, Yevgeny Primakov.

A jowly, thick-spectacled throwback to the Soviet era, when he was the last foreign intelligence chief before the collapse of the old regime, Primakov had been forced on Yeltsin by the Communist-dominated parliament the previous fall, but Yeltsin’s advisers suspected Primakov was plotting against them. He had openly targeted one of the most prominent members of the Family, the oligarch Boris Berezovsky, a former mathematician who had emerged from the privatization of the 1990s as one of Russia’s wealthiest men and its foremost political intriguer. Berezovsky pulled many of the strings at Yeltsin’s Kremlin. The investigation of his dealings sponsored by Primakov represented a direct challenge to the established powers. Eventually, advisers convinced Yeltsin to fire Primakov in May 1999 and replace him with the more malleable interior minister, Sergei Stepashin. Yeltsin would later claim that he had already decided by this point to groom Putin as his successor but wanted to hold back putting him in the prime minister’s post for fear of making him a target. “It was too early to put Putin in,” Yeltsin wrote in his memoirs. “Someone else had to fill the gap. I needed someone to serve as a decoy.”36

Whether that was the case or not, the innermost Kremlin circle began hearing Putin’s name by that summer. One of the few who heard the whispers was Igor Malashenko, one of the founders of NTV, Russia’s first independent national television network, who had thrown in with Yeltsin during the 1996 election campaign and had become his campaign manager. Malashenko did not know Putin and decided to find out more about the putative heir apparent. He called Pyotr Aven, a former trade minister who was now one of Russia’s leading bankers and a Putin acquaintance, and Aven agreed to set up a casual meal at his country dacha, a spectacular estate complete with its own tennis courts once owned by the officially favored Soviet-era writer Aleksei Tolstoy. Putin, Aven, Malashenko, and Aven’s wife relaxed over dinner one night in June, but Malashenko gleaned little about the man who might be the next president.
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